
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE WORKING GROUP (HPBC) AGENDA 
 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 18 November 2021 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 

 

Virtual Meeting 

 

 

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

 1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
2. ‘Other’ Interests 

 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 52) 

4. Actions since the last meeting - verbal  

5. Climate Change Action Plan (Pages 53 - 160) 

6. Future Meetings  

7. Date of next meeting  

 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of Climate Change Working Group (HPBC) 
Councillor T Ashton Councillor A Barrow 

Councillor J Collins Councillor C Farrell 
Councillor L Grooby Councillor M Hall 
Councillor I Huddlestone Councillor T Kemp 

Councillor D Lomax Councillor A McKeown 
Councillor G Oakley Councillor K Thomson 

Councillor S Thomson Councillor E Thrane 
Councillor J Todd  

 



Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE WORKING GROUP (HPBC) 
 
 

Meeting: Thursday, 8 July 2021 at 6.30 pm in Virtual Meeting 

 
Present: Councillor A McKeown (in the Chair) 

 
 Councillors T Ashton, A Barrow, J Collins, C Farrell, L Grooby, D Lomax,  

E Thrane and J Todd 

 
Councillor Abbotts  was also in attendance 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M Hall, I Huddlestone, 

T Kemp, G Oakley, K Thomson and S Thomson 

 
22/7 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENT 

 

The Chair confirmed that the meeting was being broadcast live to the 
internet via the Council’s website and was capable of repeated viewing. The 

images and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the 
Council. All were asked to keep to the speaking guidelines which were 

outlined.  Any views expressed by any speaker in the meeting are the 
speaker’s own and do not necessarily reflect the views of High Peak 
Borough Council. 

 
22/8 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 3) 
 

RESOLVED: 

 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 May 2021 be approved as a 

correct record. 
 

22/9 ACTIONS SINCE THE LAST MEETING - VERBAL 

(Agenda Item 4) 
 

 There had been no additional training events.   
 The LGA conference had been held virtually and included reference to the 

COP26 Climate Change Conference later this year. 

 Staff training would be held around carbon literacy and train the trainers via 
Keele University 

 Local Authority Energy Partnership – meetings had been held around the 
Green Homes grant 3 scheme and the housing upgrade scheme and bids 
would be made 

 Midlands Energy Hub – getting ready to implement the Green Homes Grant 
proposals in our own stock 

 Derbyshire wide project to look at the private housing stock minimum 
energy efficiency standards 

 
 

 
 Page 3

Agenda Item 3




Climate Change Work ing Group (HPBC) 
Thursday, 8 July 2021 

 

2 
 

22/10 CLIMATE CHANGE PLAN (PART 1) 

(Agenda Item 5) 
 

The Working Group considered the Council’s 2021/22 Climate Change Plan 
(Part 1) ‘Towards Carbon Neutrality 2030’. 

 
The following comments were made: 

 Training for climate change champions 

 Opportunities for a green energy supplier 

 Regular updates on the plan at each meeting were requested 

 Page 46 – query around use of ECP ratings for the retrofitting of hosing 
stock and suggested that energy use should be a measure of criteria.  This 
is to be considered by the Asset Management Working Group. 

 Review target dates within the plan 

 Page 49 – 2021 target for reduction in business miles is unambitious – this 
figure will change due to the ongoing impact of covid 

 Page 51 – procurement – bio diversity group had commented that 
companies having a detrimental effect on bio diversity should not be used – 
members were invited to feed comments into the on-going consultation into 
the review of the procurement strategy 

 Pages 53 and 54 – training etc – make wording stronger in this section, 

 Query around grants for insulation for the owners of listed buildings in 
conservation areas – reference was made to the Green Homes Grants and 
Home Upgrade Grants which presented challenges in terms of short term 
money and short term delivery scales, a long term approach from 
Government was required.  To be fed back through the LAEP and 
investigate what advice is available for private householders 

 This plan should be integrated into the major procedures of the council and 
be integrated with the MTFP 

 

It was noted that part 2 of the plan was still being developed and would 
be considered by the Working Group at a later date. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That, subject to the above comments, the plan be noted. 
 

22/11 THEME - ENERGY SUPPLY 

(Agenda Item 6) 
 

A, What is an asset in a climate emergency? 
 
Phil Brennan, Head of APSE Energy, made a presentation to the Working 

Group around what is an asset in a climate emergency (a copy of the 
presentation is attached).  Matters set out included the need to plan for 

severe weather events and the changes in CO2 emissions over time.  
Global, national and local priorities were set out and the need for asset 
management information is vital.  Examples of ways in which assets can be 

used to produce large scale renewable energy and used as economic 
development tools were discussed.  There were challenges in the form of 

procurement, and reference was made to a vehicle to grid school bus pilot 
exercise and the possibility of negative energy costs by changing the way 
the grid operates.   

 Page 4




Climate Change Work ing Group (HPBC) 
Thursday, 8 July 2021 

 

3 
 

Reference was made to the trial of an electric refuse vehicle within High 
Peak which had not been very successful due to the hilly nature of the area, 
and it was suggested that other initiatives could also be investigated such as 

3 weekly collections and underground waste collections for new 
developments. 

 
B. How Electrification will drive the transition to Net Zero Carbon in the 

High Peak 

 
Richard Noakes, on behalf of Sustainable Hayfield Energy Group, made a 

presentation to the Working Group around how electrification will drive the 
transition to net zero carbon in the High Peak (A copy of the presentation is 
attached).  Why, what, how and when was set out together with the 

implications of low carbon renewable generation.  The law of supply and 
demand was set out, together with how local is the future.  An A4 Step Plan 

was set out which included reduce demand on the grid, reduce peak 
demand, reduce energy waste and reduce carbon.  The results of a REGEN 
– Local Renewable Generation Assessment in Hayfield was discussed.   

 
Members discussed issues relating to solar power vs community energy 
storage, the costs of a floating solar array and modular small technology. 

 
The presenters were thanked for their attendance and informative 

presentations. 
 

22/12 DATE AND THEME OF NEXT MEETING - TO BE AGREED 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 

Topics for future meetings were discussed and suggestions included: 
 Reports setting out action relating to climate change from within the Council 

 Hydrogen – is it all hype? 

 local industries to inform the group about what they are doing around 
climate change 

 House developer / housing association to advise of their future plans for 
creating eco-friendly housing estates 

 The Framework for Part 2 of the Action Plan (next meeting), including 
publicising and seeking wider buy in for actions. 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the date of the next meeting be arranged in due course. 

 
 
The meeting concluded at 8.25 pm 

 
 

 
 
 
CHAIR 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



www.apse.org.uk

‘What is an asset in a climate 

emergency?’ 

High Peak Borough Council Climate Change 
Working Group - 8th July 2021 - Energy Theme

Phil Brennan, Head of APSE Energy

P
age 7



www.apse.org.uk

ContextP
age 8



www.apse.org.uk

The famous "Earthrise" photo taken by Apollo 8 astronauts during their trip around the moon on December 24, 1968. NASA 

P
age 9

https://www.nasa.gov/content/forty-fifth-anniversary-of-earthrise-image/


www.apse.org.uk

P
age 10



www.apse.org.uk

P
age 11



www.apse.org.uk

www.co2.earth
4 July 2021 – 417ppm 

Level of CO2 over time

P
age 12

http://www.co2.earth/


www.apse.org.uk

Global – Rio, Paris, Glasgow; IPCC, social media, climate emergencies…

National – 2050 carbon neutrality target, no gas boilers in new 
houses 2025, no ICE new vehicles after 2030,  £1bn public sector 
decarbonisation scheme, grants for domestic EV chargers…

Local 
- What do we do? 1% or 2% emissions in your locality from the LA
- How much of a priority is it for you?
- Assets and data

P
age 13



www.apse.org.uk

AssetsP
age 14



www.apse.org.uk

Assets…
The usual suspects

• Buildings – civic centre, town hall, leisure centre, community hall, 
commercial properties…

• Land – small holdings, farms, parks/open spaces…

• Vehicles – large, small, ride on mowers, strimmers…

P
age 15



www.apse.org.uk

Assets…
How about these?

• Officers and members – knowledge and experience

• Highway network, housing stock

• Buildings within your locality

• Assets outside of your locality

P
age 16



www.apse.org.uk

Sanlúcar la Mayor, Spain - produces 48MW per year, enough to power 10,000 
households
 

P
age 17



www.apse.org.uk

Floating on sunshine! Lightsource bp’s  6.3MWp floating solar array on Queen 
Elizabeth II reservoir, Walton-on-Thames, Surrey, 

P
age 18



www.apse.org.uk

Plastic Omnium, Warrington BC. 

P
age 19



www.apse.org.uk

Plastic Omnium, Warrington BC. 

P
age 20



www.apse.org.uk

Hull and East Riding solar farms, Warrington BC. 

P
age 21



www.apse.org.uk

ChallengesP
age 22



www.apse.org.uk

Challenges…

Examples

Procurement

Service managers

Scrutiny

Disposals

P
age 23



www.apse.org.uk

An approachP
age 24



www.apse.org.uk

Carbon 
baseline – 
your starting 
point

Trajectory to 
carbon neutral 
– your route to 
2030 per asset

Energy audits 
– eg. energy 
survey of civic 
centre

Action items 
/plan – eg. new 
heating or 
lighting

Monitoring / 
review /  action 
/ scrutiny / 
promotion

Aims – reduce emissions, financial investment, reduce energy bills, take 
responsibility, set an example, be a leader.

Issues – data, culture, priority, resources, knowledge.

1 2 3 4 5

Identify emission reductions, energy savings and investment costs per asset

APSE ENERGY approach

P
age 25



www.apse.org.uk

A dynamic agenda

P
age 26



www.apse.org.uk

P
age 27



www.apse.org.uk

School 
bus in 
operation

Bus 
feeding 
the grid

Bus 
charging

Cost of electricity

6-9am 5-9pm

24 hours / weekday

Overnight
very low

Bus 
charging

Overnight
very low

Morning 
high

Midday 
low

Afternoon 
low

Evening 
very high

School 
bus in 
operation

2-4pm

P
age 28



www.apse.org.uk

P
age 29



www.apse.org.uk

P
age 30



www.apse.org.uk

“It does not do to leave a live dragon out of 
your calculations, if you live near him.” 

 J.R.R. Tolkien

P
age 31



www.apse.org.uk

APSE Energy Support

General advice – APSE Energy staff, wider APSE 
staff, associates, the local govt family

Consultancy support – capacity, knowledge, one off 
exercises

Carbon baselines, energy audits, planning, site 
appraisals, technologies, funding bids, business 
cases, strategies…

Get in touch 

P
age 32



www.apse.org.uk

• Trends and actions
Assets and data

Ability to bid
Measure emissions

Promote the benefits
Be clear about your intentions, commitments, 
aspirations

 Engage local communities and economies 
The energy hierarchy

Volunteer to be a pilot
Provide support

P
age 33



www.apse.org.uk

P
age 34



www.apse.org.uk

Contact details
Phil Brennan, Head of APSE Energy

Email: pbrennan@apse.org.uk

Association for Public Service Excellence
3rd floor, Trafford House, Chester Road, 

Old Trafford, Manchester M32 0RS.
telephone: 0161 772 1810

web:www.apse.org.uk 

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



“How Electrification 
will drive the 
transition to Net 
Zero Carbon in the 
High Peak”

Richard Noakes
8th July 2021

Sustainable Hayfield
Energy Group

#HarnessOurPower

P
age 37



Agenda

• WHY….. electrify the UK?

• WHAT ….. will we need to do?

• HOW …… will we do it?

• WHEN ….  will we do WHAT?

• The implications of Low Carbon Renewable Generation

• Q&A 

P
age 38



WHY? – Electrify the UK

UK - Net Zero Carbon by 2050

15% p.a

P
age 39



WHAT… will we need to do?

Reduction in carbon emissions through reduction in the use 
of high carbon assets:

• Electricity Generation – Coal, Gas

• Transportation – Diesel/Petrol trains and vehicles 

• Heating – Gas Boilers, coal/wood fires

• Cooking – Gas cookers

P
age 40



HOW… will we do it

Reducing, Sharing, Repairing, Reusing, 
Recycling and….. Replacing……

Replace High Carbon Tech with Electric Low 
Carbon Tech (LCTs):

Generation – Hydro, Solar, Wind, Nuclear

Transportation – Electric/Hydrogen trains, 
buses, cars, vans, motorcycles, lorries, 

Heating – Electric Heat pumps, Heat 
networks, Hydrogen

Cooking – Electric/Hydrogen cookers

P
age 41



WHAT… will we do WHEN

Ban on Gas Boilers in new homes

2020

2025

2030

2035

2040

Ban on diesel, petrol and hybrid car sales 

EV Tipping Point

Local Energy Supply

The EV tipping point will occur when all of the following criteria 
were met:

➢ Affordability – Ownership costs lower than petrol
➢ Charging experience (Infrastructure) – better than petrol
➢ Usability (range)  - better than petrol

When the big crash in oil occurs, the retail oil market 
volumes/economics will be hit, leading to accelerated removal of 
petrol pumps.  EV charging will become even more convenient.

The SmartPhone tipping point 
occurred when all of the following 
criteria were met in a single package:

➢ Affordability
➢ Network Infrastructure 

Performance – 3G
➢ Usability/Functionality

P
age 42



The implications of Renewable Low Carbon Generation

P
age 43



The law of supply and demand

Typical Wholesale market pricing OCTOPUS Retail market pilot June 2020

Shift the 
demand 
using… 

HIGH DEMAND + 
LOW GENERATIONP

age 44



LOCAL is the future

Local Products
Local Food
Local Electricity

✓ Reduced transport carbon
✓ Reduced transport costs
✓ Improved resilience 
✓ Local employment

Long distance transmission of electricity
➢ Wastes energy though heat losses (Technical losses)
➢ Increases carbon as more generation is required to offset the losses
➢ Increases costs due to wastage

Reduces the 
need for…

P
age 45



All the local pieces of the jigsaw are now on the table

Half hourly
pricing

Half Hourly 
meter reads

Residential
Storage

✓Use batteries (incl EV) to power electric devices when electricity is expensive
✓Re-charge battery storage from solar or when electricity is low carbon and cheap
✓Shift use of electric devices to when electricity is low carbon and cheap

Home 
Automation

Every 30 
minutes

Residential 
Generation

P
age 46



High Peak

P
age 47



A 4 Step Plan

Enabled through Carbon Literacy

Reduce demand on 
the grid 

– energy efficiency,

more commercial & 
residential generation

1

Reduce peak demand

– shift load to low 
carbon periods

2

Reduce energy waste

– local generation, 
insulation

3

Reduce carbon

- Switch to a Green 
energy supplier, invest 
in EV charging points

4

P
age 48



Energy Delivery 
option

Description Hayfield analysis Priority

Anaerobic Digestion Food waste producing gas No local food production N/A

Biomass Heat Trees into district heat supply No district heat system N/A

Biomass Electricity Trees into electricity Some woodland Low

Energy from waste Household waste into electricity Local landfill site Medium

Heat Pumps Residential  Air/Ground source Affluent area Medium

Geothermal Deep bore holes to heat Unknown Low

Landfill and sewage gas Collection of gas Local Landfill site Medium

Offshore wind and marine Mega Windfarms Not relevant N/A

Onshore wind One or more wind turbines Exposed hills , but mostly in National Park Medium

Solar PV Domestic rooftop and small farms Affluent area, domestic , small farm & reservoir Medium

Solar thermal Domestic rooftop Affluent area Medium

Hydropower From rivers River Sett  (est 5Kw max) and  UU reservoir (existing) Low

Storage Domestic storage Affluent area Medium

Transport EV storage Affluent  area Medium

REGEN – Local Renewable Generation assessment

P
age 49



Rooftop Solar in Hayfield

Hayfield Primary School
Less than 1% of properties

P
age 50



Q & A Q&A

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Climate Change Working Group (HPBC) 
 

18 November 2021 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Climate Change Action Plan 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Todd - Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
David Smith - Head of Communities and 

Climate Change 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
ALL 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A: SCATTER Emissions Baselining; Appendix 

B: Climate Attitude Survey Results; Appendix C: Climate Change Strategy 2021 – 
2030;  

 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 This report continue’s to develop the Council’s approach to tackling the climate 
change emergency. 

 
1.2 This report and the attached strategy form part two of the approach looking at 

those wider aspects of the climate change, that are on the whole beyond the 
direct control of the Council. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Climate Change Working Group recommend that the Executive 

approve the Climate Change Strategy 2021 – 2030. 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 High Peak Borough Council recognises the global climate emergency 

and is committed to keeping global heating below the 1.5°Celsius goal of 
the Paris Agreement. 

 

3.2 The Borough Council cannot solve the problem on its own, but can take a 
lead role in the district and use its powers and influence to support wider 

local action to reduce emissions and prepare for a changing climate. 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 5



  

3.3 The national Climate Change Committee estimate that local authorities1 
have powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their local 
areas and are believed to be responsible for between 2 and 5% of local 

emissions. The Committee recognised that more than half of the cut in 
emissions required to meet national reduction targets rely on people and 

businesses taking up low-carbon solutions. 
 

3.4 When developing its plan for reducing district-wide emissions, the 

Council drew upon three main sources of information: Information 
gathered by the Working Group, Data Analysis and a Climate Change 

Attitude Survey. 
 

3.5 The plan, which can be found at Appendix C, is intended to provide a 

clear vision and strategy for achieving net zero emissions from the district 
by 2030.  

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 This is a key action towards delivering Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan. It also 
supports the Council’s actions in delivering on Climate Change. 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 None identified. 
 
6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
No direct implications 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 

The Council is recruiting a Climate Change and Biodiversity Officer 
to play a lead role in delivering the Climate Change Strategy. 
However, all Services will be involved in delivering Pt 1 and 2 of 

our climate change plans. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The plan includes a commitment to give priority in responding to 

climate change to the needs of vulnerable groups who are most at 
risk to the adverse effects of climate change, including food and 

fuel poverty, and lack of access to green space. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

 

                                                 
1 This refers to Derbyshire County Council and the Peak District National Park Authority as well as the 

Borough Council. 

Page 54



  

The Council carries an earmarked reserve set aside for initiatives 
responding to the Climate Emergency. This reserve is available to 
provide the funding for unbudgeted in-year spend developing 

projects designed to further the Council’s ambitions around climate 
change. Once specific projects have been developed (and their 

business case signed off); the necessary budget requirements can 
be incorporated into the Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 

None – the Council does not have a specific statutory duty to tackle 
climate change 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 

The strategy is central to the Council’s response to tackling climate 
change in the district. 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

The Council’s Climate Change Working Group has examined the 
issue of climate change, with the support of the High Peak Green 
Network. In addition, the Council has commissioned a Climate 

Change Attitude survey that was carried out in September 2021.  
 
The Council has commissioned Anthesis to carry out a series of 

workshops over the coming month’s to continue the consultation 
and is developing a Communications and Engagement Strategy. 

 
6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

The Council has set a various challenging target of achieving Net 
Zero by 2030. Local authorities (which includes the Borough 

Council, County Council and Peak District National park authority) 
have powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their 
local areas and are believed to be responsible for between 2 and 

5% of local emissions. The Council recognises that it will require all 
stakeholders to work together the achieve the 2030 target. 

 
Neil Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

Part 1 Action Plan available at 
www.highpeak.gov.uk/ClimateChange ” 

 
https://www.uk100.org/ 
 

https://racetozero.unfccc.int/join-the-race/ 
 
https://racetozero.unfccc.int/system/cities/ 

 

David Smith 
Head of Communities and Climate Change 

David.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

Page 55

http://www.highpeak.gov.uk/ClimateChange
https://www.uk100.org/
https://racetozero.unfccc.int/join-the-race/
https://racetozero.unfccc.int/system/cities/


  

7. Detail 

 
Introduction 

 
7.1 High Peak Borough Council recognises the global climate emergency and is 

committed to keeping global heating below the 1.5°Celsius goal of the Paris 
Agreement. 

 

7.2 The Borough Council cannot solve the problem on its own, but can take a lead 
role in the district and use its powers and influence to support wider local 

action to reduce emissions and prepare for a changing climate. 
 
7.3 The Council subsequently approved a new corporate plan (2019-23) on 10 

October 2019 that included an aim to: “Protect and improve the environment 
including responding to the climate emergency”. The Council’s corporate plan 

has previously included aims around improving the environment, but this is the 
first time that climate change has been specifically named as a key aim 
demonstrating the Council’s commitment to putting climate change at the heart 

of its activities. 
 

7.4 High Peak Borough Council subsequently declared a climate emergency on 
15th October 2019. The declaration commits the Council to become carbon 
neutral in its internal operations and the services it delivers, by 2030, and to 

work with partners to help achieve this target for the High Peak as a whole. 
The Council recognises that it will be difficult to achieve such an ambitious 
target but believes that the target needs to be challenging to encourage the 

action that is needed to tackle the climate change emergency. 
 

7.5 The Council divided its action planning process into two phases. The first 
phase focussed on reducing the emissions generated by the Council whilst 
delivering its functions. The Council approved an action plan describing for 

reducing these emissions on 1 July 2021. 
 

7.6 This report presents the second part of its Climate Change Plan, which looks 
beyond those emissions directly related to Borough Council activities and 
provides a plan for reducing emissions across the district. 

 
Reducing District Emissions 

 
7.7 The national Climate Change Committee estimate that local authorities2 have 

powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their local areas and 

are believed to be responsible for between 2 and 5% of local emissions. The 
Committee recognised that more than half of the cut in emissions required to 

meet national reduction targets rely on people and businesses taking up low-
carbon solutions. The Committee also helpfully set out the different methods 
that local authorities can use to control and influence emissions and tackle 

climate change: 

                                                 
2 This refers to Derbyshire County Council and the Peak District National Park Authority as well as the 

Borough Council. 

Page 56



  

 
• Direct Control: the Council’s own buildings, operations, travel 

 Procurement and commissioning & commercialisation 

 Place shaping: using powers to control development and transport 

(transport is a County Council function along with things like highways 

and education) 
 Showcasing: innovating, piloting, demonstrating and sharing good 

practice, scaling and replicating 
 Partnerships: leading, bringing people and organisations together, co-

ordinating and supporting others, joining others’ partnerships 

 Involving, Engaging and Communicating: translating global & national 

climate change targets for local relevance; with stakeholders to raise 

awareness, involving people and ideas for local solutions. 
 

7.8 When developing its plan for reducing district-wide emissions, the Council 
drew upon three main sources of information: Information gathered by 
Working Group, Data Analysis and a Climate Change Attitude Survey.  

 
7.12 Data analysis. Anthesis UK Ltd were asked to prepare a Scatter emissions 

baseline for the district. A copy of this report is available at Appendix A. 

 
7.13 The report reveals that in 2018, Derbyshire in-boundary emissions totalled 

1,181 ktCO2e. The majority resulted from buildings (76%) and transport 
(19%). 

 

7.14 The report also identifies that an annual reduction rate of 15.8% is needed to 
keep Derbyshire aligned with Paris Agreement targets. However, according to 

BEIS statistics, the average annual emissions reduction rate in Derbyshire  
between 2005 and 2019 was just over 1%. This means that if the district 
continues along a business-as-usual scenario, the carbon budget (2020 –

2100) will be exceeded by 2026. 
 
7.15 Climate Change Attitude Survey. The Council commissioned Future Focus 

Research to carry out 500 telephone interviews with the general public 
between 6 and 26 September 2021. A copy of the results can be found at 

Appendix B. In summary the survey revealed that: 
 

• 80% of residents are either very or a little concerned about the impact of 
climate change of the borough, while 19% are not concerned at all. 

• Of most concern are: 

 - environment destruction (96% very or a little concerned) 
 - loss of animals, plants, habitats and biodiversity (96%) 

 - disease (95%) 
 - species extinction (94%). 

• 63% of residents understand either very well or quite well what is meant 

by Net Zero. 
• 34% feel that it is achievable to become Net Zero by 2030.  However, 

14% said it isn’t achievable and 52% do not know if it’s achievable. 
• 84% said that climate change is either somewhat, very or extremely 

important to them. 

Page 57



  

• 72% said it is likely (either very likely or likely) that they will take action on 
climate change. 16% said that they are unlikely to take action.    

• When asked what would help them to make changes to tackle climate 

change the most popular response is financial help and incentives (39%), 
followed by more information (25%) and advice (24%).   

• The most important areas to prioritise are considered to be reduce waste 
and improving the use of resources (85% very or quite important), 
followed by the way we use energy (83%)  

• The most important actions to tackling climate change are considered to 
be encouraging the reuse, repurposing and recycling of waste materials 

(86% very or quite important), followed minimising single use plastic in 
packaging or products (85%), making sure that new houses are energy 
efficient (85%) and increasing the use of renewable energy (85%). Of 

least important is encouraging home composting (59% important) 
 

The Plan 
 
7.16 The plan, which can be found at Appendix C, is intended to provide a clear 

vision and strategy for achieving net zero emissions from the district by 2030.  
 

Our Vision: High Peak Borough Council will be carbon neutral in its internal 
operations and the services it delivers by 2030. Working with partners, High 
Peak Borough will be carbon neutral by 2030. 

 
Our Mission: Encouraging people, businesses and other organisations to do 
what they can to reduce their carbon footprint and making it easier, where we 

can, for those changes to happen. 
 

Our Strategy: We will use our tools, levers and powers and apply the Carbon 
Management Hierarchy as we focus on our 7 Ways to Net Zero; applying our 
values and seeking opportunities to deliver co-benefits. 

 
7.17 The Carbon hierarchy recognises that some actions are better than others in 

terms of producing more lasting reductions in emissions. Our plan considers 
ways of avoiding emissions before thinking about ways of removing emissions 
or offsetting them. 

 
7.18 The 7 Ways to Net Zero is the local framework that we have developed to 

provide a structured response to reducing carbon emissions. It encourages us 
to consider actions under 7 main headings: 

 

 The Way We Live 

 The Way We Travel 

 The Way We Work 

 The Way We Make Energy 

 The Way We Look After Our Environment 

 The Way We Manage Waste, and 

 The Way We Can Help Change to Occur. 
 

Page 58



  

7.19 The plan also sets out the values that we will adopt when delivering our plan. 
This includes following the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate 
Change. 

 
Other Updates 

 
7.20 The Council has joined the UK100, which is a network for UK local authorities 

that focuses solely on climate and clean energy policy. As members, we have 

committed to the following pledges: 
 

 We will continue to lead the UK’s response to climate change, acting 
sooner than the government’s goal by making substantial progress within 
the next decade to deliver Net Zero. We will use our experience and 

achievements to advocate to the UK government in order to accelerate 
the delivery of ambitious local climate action. With greater powers and 

funding, we would go further. 
 

 We commit to do everything within our power and influence to rapidly 

reduce our greenhouse gas emissions and work with our residents and 
businesses to bring our wider communities’ emissions in line with Net 

Zero as soon as possible. 
 

 We pledge to understand our impact on climate change, prioritise where 

action needs to be taken and monitor progress towards our goals. We 
will reduce our emissions at source and limit the use of carbon offsets as 

part of the global effort to avoid the worst impacts of climate change. 
 

 We are closer to the people who live and work in our communities, so we 
have a better understanding of their needs. This means we can 
collaborate with them to build consensus for the solutions we need to 

transition to a Net Zero society that delivers multiple benefits and is fair, 
just and works for everyone. 

 
7.21 High Peak Borough Council has also signed up to the UN’s Cities Race to 

Zero Programme. In doing so, it publicly endorse the following Principles: 

 

 We recognise the global climate emergency. 

 We are committed to keeping global heating below the 1.5°Celsius goal 
of the Paris Agreement. 

 We are committed to putting inclusive climate action at the center of all 
urban decision-making, to create thriving and equitable communities for 
everyone. 

 We invite our partners – political leaders, CEOs, trade unions, investors, 
and civil society – to join us in recognising the global climate emergency 

and help us deliver on science-based action to overcome it. 
 

7.22 The Borough Council also pledges as a signatory to the Race to Zero: 

 

 To reach (net)-zero in the 2040s or sooner, or by mid-century at the latest, in 

line with global efforts to limit warming to 1.5°Celsius. 
  

Page 59



  

 explain what steps will be taken toward achieving net zero, especially in the 
short- to medium-term. Set an interim target to achieve in the next decade, 
which reflects a fair share of the 50% global reduction in CO2 by 2030 

identified in the IPCC Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°Celsius. 
 

 Plan at least one inclusive and equitable climate action that will help to place 
High Peak on a resilient pathway consistent with the 1.5°Celsius objective of 
the Paris Agreement and begin implementation no later than 2022. 

 

 Report progress annually, beginning no later than 2022. 

 
Next Steps 

 
7.23 It is inevitable that our actions and approach will change over the time as we 

grow to understand more about addressing climate change and in response to 

legislative changes and funding opportunities. The plan is designed to provide 
a framework for responding to such opportunities and emerging threats: 

 
7.24 We have identified several actions that need to take place over the next 12 

months: 

 

 Further develop our approach to target setting including milestones for 

action.  

 Recruit a Climate Change Officer 

 Enhance our monitoring procedures to make sure that the actions that 

we are taking are having an impact 

 Embed Climate Change activity within the Council’s annual budget 

process and Medium-Term Financial Plan. 

 Include mandatory Carbon Literacy/Awareness training for all new 

Council employees and become a Carbon Literate organisation. 

 Analyse the Council’s procurement emissions (due December 2021)1 

 Prepare a land and rural emissions profile (due December 2021) 

 Conduct a district-wide pathway analysis (due December 2021)1 

 Prepare and deliver a Communications and Engagement Plan. 
 

7.25 We began delivering our communications plan in the run-up to COP26 and we 

will continue with this delivery during COP26 and afterwards. This will  
include publishing a plain English summary of the approved Part 2 plan in 

January 2022 along with a request for people who live, work or learn in the 
district to commit to one or more pledges to reduce their carbon footprint. 

 

7.26 Our engagement activity will also begin during COP 26 with a series of events. 
Activities include an affordable warmth webinar, planting activities, educational 

sessions and litter picks. 
 
7.27 This activity will be followed swiftly by a series of on-line workshops, delivered 

by Anthesis, to present the findings of their research and develop ideas for 
further action that can be incorporated into the next refresh of our action plan. 

Arrangements for these workshops are currently being finalised with Anthesis 

Page 60



  

but the draft programme is provided below. Members are requested to advise 
on there availability for the date suggested below: 

 

Session Attendees Theme Provisional Dates 
Session 
length 

1 Council officers All sectors 

30th November 
2021 

(via Teams) 3 hours 

2 Councillors All sectors 

6pm 7 December 
2021 
(via Teams) 2 hours 

3 

Residents, 

Community and 
Youth Groups 

Buildings 
Transport 

Waste 
Energy Supply 

6pm 19 January 

2021 
(Via Zoom) 2 hours 

4 
Businesses & 
private services All sectors 

1pm 25 January 

2021 
(Via Zoom) 2 hours 

 
 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



High Peak District Council 

HIGH PEAK DISTRICT 
COUNCIL

SCATTER Emissions Baselining

September 2021

P
age 63



High Peak District Council 

Introduction

Page 5

01
SCATTER Emissions 

Inventory

Page 9

02
Carbon Budget 

Analysis

Page 20

03

Appendices

Page 24

04

CONTENTS

P
age 64



High Peak District Council 

01 IntroductionP
age 65



High Peak District Council 

1. INTRODUCTION
REPORT OVERVIEW & SCOPE

4

This report was commissioned by High Peak Council, who declared a 
climate emergency in 2019 and are in the process of developing a climate 
action plan to tackle emissions from the council’s operations and those of 
the borough.

The report is structured as follows:

o Chapter 1 provides the context for climate change action and sets out 
past emissions trends and performance 

o Chapter 2 provides an emissions inventory for the district, as defined by 
the SCATTER Inventory tool

o Chapter 3 provides a carbon budget for energy system emissions, based 
on research carried out by the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change 
Research at the University of Manchester. 

The aim of this report is to support High Peak Borough Council in achieving 
its borough-wide target of becoming carbon neutral by 2030, by meeting 
the following objectives: 

1. Provide a robust baseline assessment of area-wide emissions that is 
aligned to international reporting standards

2. Use this information to inform the urgency and scale of action required 
to remain in line with the Paris Agreement 

3. Identify high-level priorities for the council to consider moving forwards 
as next steps

The scope of this report includes emissions from the consumption of solid, 

liquid and gaseous fuels within the area boundary of High Peak. Figures

quoted in the body of the report represent direct and indirect emissions 

arising from energy consumption within the area boundary.

Background & context

Commitments to reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions have been made 

at various levels of government in recent years. 

In 2015, the Paris Agreement set the international target to limit global 

temperature increase to “well-below 2oC above pre-industrial levels”. A 

follow up report from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 

(IPCC) found that this requires a reduction in GHG emissions of around 45% 

by 2030 against a 2010 baseline. 

Within the UK, legislation has been in place since 2008 which sets 

reductions targets for national emissions. The Climate Change Act was 

subsequently strengthened in 2019 to reflect a more ambitious target of 

achieving carbon neutrality no later than 2050. In late 2020, the UK 

Committee on Climate Change (CCC) Sixth Carbon Budget set out further 

targets to achieve at least a 78% reduction in emissions no later than 2035 

(against a 1990 baseline). 

P
age 66

https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/


High Peak District Council 

1. INTRODUCTION
EMISSIONS HISTORY

5

Local commitment to action on reducing climate change was reflected in 

council declarations in 2019.

High Peak Borough Council committed to a carbon neutral target of 2030 

both for the organisational emissions of the council itself as well as the 

borough as a whole.

Emissions history

Each year, the government publish data on local authority area emissions, 

documenting the GHG impact of in-boundary fuel consumption. Over time, 

these can be assessed for trends in performance. By 2019, national 

emissions had fallen by around 45% against 1990 levels, largely thanks to 

the removal of carbon-intensive fuels such as coal from the energy mix 

used to supply electricity to households. 

Figure 1.1 opposite shows the historic performance for High Peak and 

Staffordshire Moorlands from 2005-19, based on statistics published by the 

Government Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS). 

Since 2010, emissions in High Peak have remained roughly stable around 

3,000 ktCO2, though analysis of subset data indicates a reduction of around 

34% over the same time period. 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

2
0
1
6

2
0
1
7

2
0
1
8

2
0
1
9

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
)

Grand total Subset total

Figure 1.1: Historic emissions from BEIS for High Peak. Subset total data refers to 

the grand total figure minus large industrial sites, motorways, land use and railway 

emissions. 

P
age 67



High Peak District Council 

1. INTRODUCTION
UNDERSTANDING BEIS DATASETS

6

Historic BEIS datasets are useful in observing trends and changes to 
emissions over time, since they provide the means for comparing the 
emissions impact of various activities across different years. 

It can however be difficult to judge whether some changes in emissions 
from one year to another are due to changes in activity or if they represent 
differences in the scope of reporting for different disclosure schemes. 
Since reporting scopes for schemes such as the EU Emissions Trading 
Scheme (EU ETS) are updated periodically, and the associated emissions 
relate to one specific site in many cases, this can pose challenges when 
considering emissions from large industrial sites. This is especially relevant 
to High Peak which records significant emissions from large industrial 
installations. 

Introducing SCATTER

SCATTER is an emissions baselining and modelling tool that is free to use 
for local authorities in the UK. The tool provides estimates for emissions, 
broken down by scope, considering a broader range of GHGs than BEIS 
figures and adopting slightly different methodologies for the calculation of 
emissions in some sectors. 

The tool was developed in partnership with BEIS, local authorities and the 
Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research. A summary of the differences 
between BEIS and SCATTER emissions data can be found in Appendix 2.

One of the more significant benefits of using SCATTER data is that the tool 
is aligned to international reporting frameworks. Figures within SCATTER 
are developed according to guidance in the GHG Protocol for Cities. 

Activities and figures required for specific reporting frameworks have been 

highlighted in Appendix 1, and it is worth noting that the totals quoted 

within Chapter 2 represent a broader “basket” of emissions than is required 

for the most basic reporting standards.

Adoption of the GHG Protocol guidance means that the methodologies 

adopted within SCATTER are different to those used by BEIS in some cases, 

which can lead to differences and deviations in figures quoted for the same 

emissions category. 

P
age 68

https://ghgprotocol.org/greenhouse-gas-protocol-accounting-reporting-standard-cities


High Peak District Council 

02 SCATTER 
Emissions 
Inventory

P
age 69



High Peak District Council 

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

8

In 2018, High Peak’s in-boundary emissions totalled 1,181 ktCO2e. The 

majority resulted from buildings (76%) and transport (12%).

This emissions inventory has been calculated from the SCATTER Inventory 

tool. The figures shown opposite represents emissions from a specified set 

of activities within the borough boundary.1

The remainder of this section provides a breakdown of each of the sectors 

defined opposite, with a more detailed description of each emissions 

source. 

Differences with BEIS data

The SCATTER Inventory tool is aligned to international reporting frameworks 

but there are important differences between the activities included in 

SCATTER compared to those reported under BEIS LA CO2 statistics. 

The differences between SCATTER and BEIS datasets are discussed in more 

detail in Appendix 2. SCATTER considers emissions from multiple 

greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and methane with 

the data opposite relating to the 2018 reporting year. The emissions 

inventory only includes emissions generated within High Peak (Scopes 1 & 

2). 

A full data table can be found in Appendix 1.

Buildings (76%)

Transport (12%)

Waste (3%)

Figure 2.1: SCATTER inventory for High Peak, showing all direct and indirect 

emissions recorded under SCATTER.

High Peak Net 

Emissions: 1,181 

ktCO2e

Misc. (9%)

1 – For disclosure through international reporting frameworks, only some of these 

activities are required to be reported against. See Appendix 1 for more details on these.  

Livestock and land use (net)

P
age 70



High Peak District Council 

Residential buildings

Emissions from residential buildings totalled 154 ktCO2e within High Peak in 

2018. This figure estimates emissions arising from the consumption of energy in 

residential buildings of all types and tenures, including social housing, rented 

accommodation and privately-owned properties. In 2018, there were an 

estimated 42,700 households1 in High Peak.

The most significant source of emissions from households comes from the use of 

energy for heating and hot water. Most of this is achieved through natural gas 

consumption, with gas demand for heating making up 67% of residential building 

emissions. The second most significant source of emissions is the use of grid-

supplied electricity to the borough for lighting, appliances and cooking, which 

makes up around 22% of residential emissions. The remainder is made up of 

small contributions from other fuel types. 

Emissions from residential buildings can be mitigated by improving the energy 

efficiency of households through retrofitting measures, which reduce the 

overall demand for energy to heat the borough’s homes. Switching to low-

carbon heating systems, such as heat pumps, is another means of reducing 

domestic emissions.  

9

Figure 2.2: Residential emissions as a proportion of the borough-wide profile (left). A 

breakdown of the split between direct and indirect residential emissions (right).   

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

111 

43 

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

Direct Indirect

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

1 – ONS, Estimate number of households in the local and unitary 

authorities of England and Wales (2018)

P
age 71

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/adhocs/11620estimatednumberofhouseholdsinthelocalandunitaryauthoritiesofenglandandwalescouncilareasofscotlandandlocalgovernmentdistrictsofnorthernireland2012to2018


High Peak District Council 

32 

69 

26 15 

502 

85 

13 
-

 -

 100

 200

 300

 400

 500

 600

Direct Indirect

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

Commercial buildings & facilities

Institutional buildings & facilities

Industrial buildings & facilities

Fugitive emissions

Non-residential buildings

By far the most significant contributor to High Peak’s emissions is the non-

residential buildings sector, totalling 730 ktCO2e across commercial, 

institutional and industrial buildings in 2018:

o Commercial buildings & facilities include buildings from which businesses 

operate such as shops and retail parks, offices, restaurants 

o Institutional buildings & facilities include public sector buildings such as 

schools, health centres, hospitals, leisure centres, council buildings and so 

on

o Industrial buildings & facilities include sites such as factories, warehouses 

and workshops associated with manufacture and engineering

o Fugitive emissions are also classified under this category – these emissions 

relate to irregular leaks of greenhouse gases from equipment and containers

The most significant source of emissions from non-residential buildings is the 

contribution from coal consumption at the borough’s industrial facilities. This is 

likely the result of activities at Hope Cement Works, which uses coal kilns and 

is the largest cement plant in the United Kingdom (in terms of tonnages of 

cement). As with residential buildings, the next most significant contributions 

to these totals is natural gas consumption for heating and hot water and 

electricity for appliances, lighting and cooking. 

Emissions from non-residential buildings can be mitigated in much the same 

way as residential buildings; improving energy efficiency through retrofit, as 

well as switching to low-carbon heating systems.

10

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

Figure 2.3: Non-residential building emissions as a proportion of the borough-wide profile 

(left). A breakdown of the split between direct and indirect non-residential building 

emissions (right).   

P
age 72



High Peak District Council 

Transport

Emissions from transport totaled 137 ktCO2e in 2018. SCATTER measures 

emissions from the following activities:

o On-road transport emissions are measured from all forms of on-road 

passenger and freight vehicles, including cars, vans, motorcycles, buses 

and taxis

o Rail transport emissions are measured from diesel-fuelled rail transport 

only – emissions from any electrified rail services are included in the 

commercial and industrial sectors

o Waterborne navigation describes emissions from transport along the 

borough’s waterways according to the length of available throughfares 

o Off-road transport describes emissions from land vehicles that are not 

classified as “on-road”

On-road transport dominates the emissions in this sector; DfT data indicates 

that over 4.1 billion vehicle miles were driven across Derbyshire’s roads in 

2018. 

The proportion of electric vehicles in the borough has grown significantly in 

recent years, but still constitutes less than 1% of the overall number of 

registered vehicles. 

Mitigating transport emissions can be achieved by a combination of modal shift 

to more active modes of travel such as cycling and walking, as well as the 

transition to electric vehicles from petrol and diesel. 

11

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

Figure 2.4: Transport emissions as a proportion of the borough-wide profile (left). A 

breakdown of the split between different subsectors of transport emissions (right).   

131 

5 
<0.5 1 

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 140

Direct

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

On-road

Rail

Waterborne navigation

Off-road

P
age 73



High Peak District Council 

29 

5 

73 

56 

(17)

<1

 (20)

 (10)

 -

 10

 20

 30

 40

 50

 60

 70

Direct

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

Solid waste disposal
Wastewater treatment and discharge
Industrial process
Livestock
Land use
Local renewable generation

Waste 

Emissions from waste totaled 35 ktCO2e in 2018. SCATTER measures emissions 

from the following activities:

o Solid waste disposal emissions are associated with the treatment of 

commercial, industrial and municipal waste through various means, 

including incineration, open- and closed-loop recycling and composting

o Wastewater emissions are associated with the biological processes used to 

treat and manage liquid waste. 

According to DEFRA statistics for FY18/19, High Peak saw a recycling rate of 

just under 49%, with an average of 372kg of collected waste per resident.  

Miscellaneous emissions

SCATTER also measures emissions across smaller sectors of activity, categorized 

for the purposes of this report under miscellaneous. This category and the 

associated emissions stem from: 

o Industrial processes (73 ktCO2e) which describes emissions from all non-

energy related processes in industrial facilities, such as manufacturing and 

production of chemicals, metals and minerals

o Net livestock and land use (39 ktCO2e) which accounts for emissions from 

rearing livestock and manure management netted off against emissions 

sequestered by the natural environment

o Local renewable generation (<0.01 ktCO2e) which accounts for emissions as 

a result of local landfill gas sites 

12

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

Figure 2.5: Waste & miscellaneous emissions as a proportion of the borough-wide profile 

(left). A breakdown of the split between different subsectors of emissions (right). Land 

use emissions (dashed green) are negative in High Peak – figures quoted in the initial 

profile take the net figure of livestock and land use emissions. 

P
age 74



03 Carbon Budget 
Analysis

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 75



3. CARBON BUDGET ANALYSIS 
INTRODUCTION

14

This chapter discusses future emissions in terms of a carbon budget approach, 

based on research by the Tyndall Centre at the University of Manchester. 

This means that the pathway taken to carbon neutrality is as important as the 

selected target date, since different pathways will reach the target having 

emitted different amounts of cumulative emissions along the way. This 

highlights the importance of the annual reduction rate when considering 

carbon budgets. 
What is a carbon budget?

A carbon budget is a fixed limit of cumulative emissions that are allowed 

within a given time, in order that increases in average global surface 

temperatures remain within a certain threshold. 

The budget approach

When considering future routes to carbon neutrality, it is important to 

introduce the concept of a carbon budget.

This approach highlights the importance of cumulative carbon emissions,

since emissions now mean impacts later. Once emitted, carbon dioxide 

remains in the atmosphere for many decades, contributing to increasing the 

average global temperature. This means that the carbon budget does not 

reset; it represents a fixed upper limit to emissions. 

This approach is analogous to a monthly payday cheque, in the sense that 

the budget can be spent on the first day after getting paid, or be stretched 

out over the course of the month. Once it is “spent” (or in the case of a 

carbon budget, emitted) there is no budget left. 

Total cumulative emissions along 

each pathway

Rapid reductions: 1,995 ktCO2

Steady reductions: 3,500 ktCO2

Delayed reductions: 4,550 ktCO2

1,000 

ktCO2

Figure 3.1: Illustrative example of a carbon budget approach for a starting point of 

1,000ktCO2. Although all three of these hypothetical pathways reach net zero carbon 

by the same target date, the cumulative emissions (i.e. the carbon budget) associated 

with each pathway is significantly different. 

20302020

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 76



15

3. CARBON BUDGET ANALYSIS
TYNDALL CENTRE RESEARCH

The Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, based at the University of 

Manchester, have carried out an assessment for each UK local authority in 

terms of their “fair” contribution towards remaining in line with the Paris 

Agreement. 

The Paris Agreement’s “well-below 2oC” scenario sets an upper limit on 

allowed global emissions. Tyndall Centre academics have scaled this 

emissions ceiling down, allowing local authorities to understand the scale 

and extent to which they must reduce their emissions between the present 

and their target year for carbon neutrality. 

A more detailed description of the Tyndall Centre’s approach can be found 

in Appendix 3.

There are however a number of noteworthy caveats to make when 

considering carbon budget analysis:

o Emissions from agriculture and land use are not directly taken into 

account when calculating local authority budgets, instead being 

considered at the national level 

o The budget applies to energy system emissions only – cement 

manufacturing is not included within this analysis

o Non-CO2 emissions are also excluded from the analysis 

High Peak Borough Council

Key statistics at a glance – High Peak

An annual reduction rate of 15.8% is recommended to keep 

High Peak aligned with Paris Agreement targets

If High Peak continues along a business-as-usual scenario, the 

carbon budget (2020 – 2100) will be exceeded by 2026

According to BEIS statistics, between 2005 and 2019 the 

average annual emissions reduction rate in High Peak was just 

over 1%

In light of the fact that SCATTER baselines include a broader basket of local 

authority emissions than is assessed by the carbon budget analysis, the key 

takeaway piece of information is the annual reduction rate of emissions. 

P
age 77



16

3. CARBON BUDGET ANALYSIS
CARBON BUDGET

High Peak Carbon Budget

The Tyndall Centre recommends that cumulative emissions from the energy 

system within High Peak do not exceed 10,800ktCO2 over the period 2020-

2100. Figure 3.2 illustrates carbon budget milestones based on the annual 

reduction rate for High Peak.

For a full description of the differences between the SCATTER, BEIS and 

Tyndall Centre emissions data please see Appendix 2. 

High Peak Borough Council

Figure 3.2: Bar chart describing the Tyndall carbon budget, broken down into the 

periods defined in government reporting frameworks. The decline in emissions is 

based on the annual reduction rate of 15.8%.

8,400 

3,700 

1,600 

700 
300 100 100 

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

C
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
 e

m
is

si
o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
)

2018-22 2023-27 2027-32 2033-37 2038-42 2043-47 2048-2100

Recommendations and Next Steps

Following the exploration of High Peak’s emissions baseline and carbon 

budgets in this report, it is recommended that the council develops a 

roadmap to meet the 2030 net zero target.

To do this, High Peak Borough Council should next look to:

1. Understand the type of measures needed to reduce emissions in the 

borough aligned to the 2030 net zero target

2. Estimate the scale and speed of implementing measures needed and 

engage internal stakeholders to understand what this means for the 

borough

3. Work with key external stakeholders such as residents, businesses and 

other organisations to develop an action plan 

4. Continue to measure and report on the borough’s emissions against KPIs 

to track progress 

P
age 78



04 Appendices

Appendix Page Number

Appendix 1 – Emissions Data Tables Page 25

Appendix 2 – Differences between 

SCATTER & BEIS inventories
Page 27

Appendix 3 – Tyndall Centre carbon 

budget methodology
Page 28

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 79



High Peak District Council 

APPENDIX 1
EMISSIONS DATA TABLES – HIGH PEAK 

18

Sector
Scope 1 & 2 

Emissions, ktCO2

Industry and Commercial Electricity 140.3

Industry and Commercial Gas 122.0

Large Industrial Installations 2,222.6

Industrial and Commercial Other 

Fuels 52.4

Agriculture 5.9

Domestic Electricity 35.9

Domestic Gas 108.0

Domestic 'Other Fuels' 7.8

Road Transport (A roads) 89.7

Road Transport (Motorways) -

Road Transport (Minor roads) 58.2

Diesel Railways 5.4

Transport Other 1.5

LULUCF Net Emissions -16.7

Grand Total 2,832.9

Sub Sector Direct, ktCO2e
Indirect, 

ktCO2e

Residential buildings 110.96 43.22 

Commercial buildings & facilities 32.48 69.29 

Institutional buildings & facilities 26.49 15.04 

Industrial buildings & facilities 501.91 84.58 

Agricultural fuels - -

Fugitive emissions 13.03 -

On-road 130.66 IE   

Rail 4.83 IE   

Waterborne navigation 0.31 IE   

Aviation NO   IE   

Off-road 1.31 IE   

Solid waste disposal 29.42 -

Biological treatment NO   -

Incineration and open burning NO   -

Wastewater 5.43 -

Industrial process 72.80 -

Product use 0.00 -

Livestock 56.09 -

Land use - 16.70 -

Other AFOLU NE   -

Electricity-only generation NO   -

CHP generation NO   -

Heat/cold generation NO   -

Local renewable generation 0.00 NO   

Sub-total 969.03 212.14

Grand total 1,181.16

Notes:

• BEIS data (left) and SCATTER data (right) 

are compiled using different 

methodologies.

• Within the SCATTER model, national figures 

for emissions within certain sectors are 

scaled down to a local authority level based 

upon a series of assumptions and factors 

taken from fuel consumption data, as 

opposed to being directly quoted emissions 

data. This is particularly of note in the 

large industrial installations subcategory.

• BASIC and BASIC+ frameworks relate to 

international reporting standards as set out 

in the GHG Protocol for Cities. 

• BASIC+ framework also requires disclosure 

of Scope 3 (“Other”) emissions for the built 

environment and transport sectors. These 

are available within the full SCATTER 

inventory available at 

www.scattercities.com

IE = Included Elsewhere

NE = Not Estimated

NO = Not Occurring

Included under BASIC framework

Included under BASIC+ framework

P
age 80

http://www.scattercities.com/


APPENDIX 2
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN BEIS & 
SCATTER INVENTORIES

19

Why does the BEIS summary differ from the SCATTER summary? 

• The BEIS summary represents CO2 only; SCATTER also includes 

emissions factors for other greenhouse gases such as Nitrous 

Oxide (N20) and Methane (CH4). These are reported as a CO2 

’equivalents (e)’.

• The BEIS summary does not provide scope split; SCATTER 

reports emissions by scope 1, 2, and 3 (i.e. direct, indirect or 

other categories) and includes more scopes than BEIS summary.

• The BEIS summary categories are not directly consistent or 

mapped to the BEIS LA fuel data which is available as a 

separate data set. SCATTER uses published fuel data and applies 

current-year emissions factors, whereas the BEIS data 

calculations scale down national emissions in each transport 

area. Specifically for road transport, BEIS data splits total 

emissions across road type; SCATTER uses total fuel consumption 

for on-road transport per LA.

• Different treatment of ‘rural’ emissions i.e. Agriculture, 

Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU) and Land Use, Land Use 

Change & Forestry (LULUCF) categories are derived from 

different underlying data sets.

SCATTER BEIS

Summary 1. Latest GHG Inventory by subsector

2. Pathways for emissions to 2050

Latest CO2 Inventory by 

subsector

Purpose 1. To provide each LA with an 

accurate current baseline in a 

standardised format according to 

international guidelines.

2. To model scenarios for emissions 

reduction to 2050 based on the 

baseline emissions and selected 

interventions, to support LA climate 

action planning.

To provide each LA with an 

accurate current baseline of CO2

emissions in a standardised 

format across the UK.

Scopes covered Scope 1, Scope 2 and some Scope 3. Scope 1 and 2 only.

Sources covered Stationary Energy 

Transport 

Waste 

Industrial Processes and Product Use 

Agriculture, Forestry and Land use 

Generation of grid-supplied energy

Industrial and Commercial

Domestic

Transport

Sources excluded Scope 3 emissions from Biological 

treatment, Incineration & open 

burning of waste and Wastewater.

Scope 3 emissions from Electricity-

only, Heat/cold and Local renewable 

generation.

Scope 3 fugitive emissions.

Energy generation, Waste, Off-

road transport, Rail transport, 

Waterborne navigation, Aviation.

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 81



Schematic showing how the global carbon 

budget is scaled to a local authority (LA) level. 

Bars/boxes in the diagram are not to sized scale 

of budgets 

APPENDIX 3
TYNDALL CARBON BUDGET 
METHODOLOGY

20

The Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, 

based at the University of Manchester, have 

translated the Paris Agreement targets of limiting 

temperature change below 1.5°C into a fixed 

emissions ‘budget’ for each local authority. 

The carbon budget defines a finite emissions limit 

that should not be exceeded in order that each 

local authority plays its full part in adhering to 

the Paris Agreement. 

The global budget is taken from the IPCC Special 

Report on 1.5°C and represents the latest IPCC 

estimate of the quantity of CO2 that can be 

emitted whilst remaining consistent with keeping 

global temperatures below 2°C. 

Global “well below” 2°C emissions budget

Global energy-only emissions budget

Global LULUCF & 

cement processing 

emissions

Rest of the world energy-only emissions budget 

(c. 99.4%)

UK emissions budget (c. 

0.6%)

UK 

aviation & 

shipping

UK energy-only 

budget

LA energy-

only budget

LA LULUCF 

budgetLink to full carbon budget report for High Peak

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 82

https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000037/


APPENDIX 3
TYNDALL CARBON BUDGET 
METHODOLOGY

21

Methodology Notes

• Budget derived from IPCC AR5 synthesis report and represents a 66-100% probability of global warming not exceeding 2°C (“well below”). Due to the 

inertia in our energy systems and the amount of carbon we have already emitted, the Paris 1.5°C commitment is now only likely to be viable if 

negative emissions technologies (NETs) prove to be successful at a global scale. If the emissions reduction rates for High Peak and Staffordshire 

Moorlands are achieved and NETs are deployed at the scales assumed in the global models, then the targets adopted may be considered as a 1.5°C 

compatible. This also expressly assumes that other carbon cycle feedbacks, such as methane released due to melting permafrost etc., do not occur, 

and that an overshoot of 1.5°C does not result in increased feedbacks that further accelerate warming at lower budgets than the IPCC budgets 

currently estimate.  

• LULUCF stands for Land Use, Land Use Change & Forestry 

• UK Aviation & Shipping is accounted for at the national level. If emissions due to aviation and shipping increases, then a smaller proportion of the UK-

wide budget is available for the energy-only budget and vice versa. 

Negative Emissions Technologies (NETs)

NETs remain a highly speculative and uncertain development and are leaned upon heavily in IPCC models. 

If research, development and demonstration of NETs shows that they may work at scale, and then they are rolled out globally at unprecedented rates, 

1.5°C may theoretically be achievable. However, this is only made possible if rapid, deep 2°C mitigation begins now, and additional feedbacks do not 

occur. 

Exclusions from this budget

A key omission from this budget are emissions from aviation and shipping – the budget considers only the energy system. This “energy-only” budget also 

excludes emissions from land use, land change and forestry, as well as cement manufacturing.

The nature of aviation & shipping emissions means that responsibility is not attributed to individual authorities, but is instead accounted for at the UK 

level, as a “national overhead”. The Tyndall Centre analysis assumes that UK emissions from aviation remain constant up until 2030, followed by a steady 

reduction towards net zero carbon by 2075. 

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 83



Disclaimer

Anthesis (UK) Limited has prepared this report for the sole use of the client (High Peak Borough Council) and for the intended purposes as stated in the agreement between Anthesis and the

client under which this report was completed. Anthesis has exercised due and customary care in preparing this report but has not, save as specifically stated, independently verified information

provided by others. No other warranty, express or implied, is made in relation to the contents of this report. The use of this report, or reliance on its content, by unauthorised third parties

without written permission from Anthesis shall be at their own risk, and Anthesis accepts no duty of care to such third parties. Any recommendations, opinions or findings stated in this report are

based on facts and circumstances as they existed at the time the report was prepared. Any changes in such facts and circumstances may adversely affect the recommendations, opinions or

findings contained in this report.

22

P
age 84



Climate Change Attitude Survey
High Peak Borough Council

Report

 October 2021

P
age 85



Objectives and approach

Area % of interviews Number of interviews
Buxton and surrounding area 33% 167
Glossop and Glossopdale 33% 166
Central belt, inc Hope Valley 33% 167
TOTAL 100% 500

§ 500 telephone interviews with the general public
§ Random Digit Dialling approach – where we purchase a list of random telephone 

numbers with the relevant postcodes in order to achieve the required sample
§ Fieldwork conducted between 6th – 26th September 2021
§ Quotas were imposed as follows

Age % of interviews Number of Interviews
18 - 24 10% 51
25 - 44 31% 154
45 - 64 37% 186
65+ 22% 109
Total 100% 500

Gender % of interviews Number of Interviews
Male 49% 245
Female 51% 255
Total 100% 500

P
age 86



Objectives and approach

§ The objectives of the research were as follows:

- to assess the level of concern of impact of climate change on the borough
- to assess the level of concern over a number of factors affected by climate change
- to determine understanding of the term Net Zero
- to gather views on whether it’s achievable to become Net Zero by 2030
- to determine the public’s importance towards tackling climate change
- to determine the likelihood of taking actions to tackle climate change
- to find out what help required to make changed towards tackling climate change and 
achieving net zero

- to determine the importance of different factors in tackling climate change

P
age 87



Question 1a.  How concerned are you about the impact of climate 
change on our borough?

% respondents

Base: (500)

• 80% of residents (4 in 5) are 
either very or a little 
concerned about the impact 
of climate change of the 
borough.

• 19% (just less than 1 in 5) 
are not concerned at all.

• Those aged 18 – 24* are 
least likely to be concerned 
(35% not concerned at all) as 
are men (27% not 
concerned) and those living 
in Central Belt (40% not 
concerned).

* caution: small sample size

Don't believe in climate change

Not concerned at all

A little concerned

Very concerned

1

19

50

30

P
age 88



Question 1b. How concerned are you about the following in relation to 
climate change?
% respondents

Base: (400. those who were concerned with climate change)

Climate refugees

Rising temperatures

Flooding

Extreme weather

Species extinction

Disease

Loss of animals, plants, habitats and 
biodiversity

Environment destruction

28

25

29

36

31

64

36

41

51

57

56

54

63

31

60

55

22

18

15

10

6

5

5

4

Very concerned A little concerned Not concerned at all• Over three quarter of 
residents are concerned to 
some extent about all 
aspects of climate change.

• Of most concern are:
- environment destruction 
(96% very or a little 
concerned)
- loss of animals, plants, 
habitats and biodiversity 
(96%)
- disease (95%)
- species extinction (94%).

P
age 89



Question 2.  How well do you think you understand what is meant by 
being Net Zero? 
% respondents

Base: (500)

Don't know

Not well at all

Not at all well

Quite well

Very well

1

6

29

46

17

• Just over 6 in 10 (63%) of 
residents understand either 
very well or quite well what is 
meant by Net Zero.

• There are no differences in 
understanding by age, 
gender or region.P

age 90



Question 3.  Do you think it’s achievable to become Net Zero by 2030?  
% respondents

Base: (500)

Don't know

No

Yes

52

14

34

• Just over a third (34%) feel 
that it is achievable to 
become Net Zero by 2030.

• However, 14% said it isn’t 
achievable and over a half 
(52%) do not know.

• Those aged 18 -24* are least 
likely to think it is achievable 
(20% yes) as are males (24% 
compared to 44% of 
females).

• The main reasons given for 
not thinking it is achievable 
are:
-  not enough time
-  big businesses not doing 

enough
- Not all individuals are on 

board
- Other countries not 

doing enough
- Public transport is poor

*caution: small sample size

P
age 91



Question 4. How important is tackling climate change to you?
% respondents

Base: (500)

Not at all important

Not very important

Somewhat important

Very important

Extremely important

2

15

22

46

16

• 84% said that climate change 
is important to them (either 
somewhat, very or extremely)

• Approximately 1 in 6 people 
(17%) do not think it’s 
important. 

• Those aged 18 – 24* are 
least likely to say it’s 
important (43% not 
important) as are those living 
in Central Belt (42% not 
important).

* caution: small sample size

P
age 92



Question 5. How likely is it you will take action on climate change?
% respondents

Base: (500)

Very unlikely

Unlikely

Neither likely nor unlikely 

Likely

Very likely

3

13

12

45

27

• Over 7 in 10 (72%) said it is 
likely (either very likely or 
likely) that they will take 
action on climate change. 
Whereas around 1 in 6 (16%) 
said that they are unlikely to 
take action.   

• Those aged 18 – 24* are 
least likely to say they are 
going to take action (39% 
unlikely) as are men (23% 
unlikely compared to 9% of 
women) and those living in 
Central Belt (40% not likely).

* caution: small sample size

P
age 93



Question 6. What would help you make changes to tackle climate 
change and achieve a Net Zero High Peak by 2030? 

% respondents

Base: (500)

• When asked what would help 
them to make changes to 
tackle climate change the 
most popular response is 
financial help and incentives 
(39%), followed by more 
information (25%) and advice 
(24%).  

• 28% said that they didn’t 
need any help as they know 
what they needed to do and a 
further 18% said that they 
don’t intend to make any 
changes.

• Those aged 18 – 24* are 
most likely to say they don't 
intend to make any changes 
(41%) as are men (27% 
unlikely compared to 10% of 
women) and those living in 
Central Belt (32%).

* caution: small sample size

Don’t intend to make any changes

Don't need any help – I know what I 
need to do

Other

Support from voluntary and community 
groups

Advice

More information

Financial help and incentives

18

28

2

8

24

25

39

P
age 94



Question 7.  How important do you think it is to prioritise the following 
to tackle climate change in the borough?

% respondents

Base: (500)

The way we travel and how goods are 
transported

How we improve and maintain our 
gardens, parks, countryside and the 

natural environment

The way we use our land, where we 
build and what we build

How we heat, power and build our 
homes

The emissions from industry and 
agriculture

The way we use energy

Reducing waste and improving the use 
of resources

33

37

38

42

46

52

57

44

41

41

39

35

31

28

18

17

17

17

16

14

12

5

4

3

3

3

3

3

Very important Quite important Not very important Not at all important
• When shown a list of actions 
to tackle climate change over 
three quarters think they are 
all important to prioritise.

• The most important to 
prioritise are considered to be 
reduce waste and improving 
the use of resources (85% 
very or quite important), 
followed by the way we use 
energy (83%) 

P
age 95



Question 8.  How important do you think the following are for tackling 
climate in the borough?

% respondents

Base: (500)

Encouraging home composting 

Encouraging greater use of public transport

Encouraging walking and cycling

Increasing the use of electric vehicles through for 
example, more charging points

Encouraging volunteering and supporting local projects 
and groups

Buying local and seasonal products

Supporting allotments and community gardens

Planting trees in our towns and villages and in the 
countryside

Providing advice and support to businesses and 
residents

Protecting our green spaces, habitats and wildlife

Insulating and updating buildings and homes to 
improve their energy performance and increase use of 

renewable energy

Increasing the use of renewable energy 

Making sure that new houses are energy efficient

Minimising single use plastic in packaging or products

Encouraging the reuse, repurposing and recycling of 
waste materials

24

33

29

34

31

37

32

44

48

47

41

51

43

64

61

35

35

40

35

40

36

42

36

34

36

43

33

42

21

25

29

24

21

21

22

21

18

15

15

13

13

12

12

12

12

12

8

10

9

7

6

8

5

3

4

3

3

3

3

3

Very important Quite important Not very important Not at all important• When shown another list of 
actions to tackle climate 
change over three quarters 
think they are all important.

• The most important are 
considered to be encouraging 
the reuse, repurposing and 
recycling of waste materials 
(86% very or quite important), 
followed minimising single 
use plastic in packaging or 
products (85%), making sure 
that new houses are energy 
efficient (85%) and increasing 
the use of renewable energy 
(85%). 

• Of least important is 
encouraging home 
composting (59% important)

P
age 96



• 80% of residents are either very or a little concerned about the impact of climate change of the borough, while 
19% are not concerned at all.

• Of most concern are:
- environment destruction (96% very or a little concerned)
- loss of animals, plants, habitats and biodiversity (96%)
- disease (95%)
- species extinction (94%).

• 63% of residents understand either very well or quite well what is meant by Net Zero.
• 34% feel that it is achievable to become Net Zero by 2030.  However, 14% said it isn’t achievable and 52% do 
not know if it’s achievable.

• 84% said that climate change is either somewhat, very or extremely important to them.
• 72% said it is likely (either very likely or likely) that they will take action on climate change. 16% said that they 
are unlikely to take action.   

• When asked what would help them to make changes to tackle climate change the most popular response is 
financial help and incentives (39%), followed by more information (25%) and advice (24%).  

• The most important areas to prioritise are considered to be reduce waste and improving the use of resources 
(85% very or quite important), followed by the way we use energy (83%) 

• The most important actions to tackling climate change are considered to be encouraging the reuse, repurposing 
and recycling of waste materials (86% very or quite important), followed minimising single use plastic in 
packaging or products (85%), making sure that new houses are energy efficient (85%) and increasing the use of 
renewable energy (85%). Of least important is encouraging home composting (59% important)

Summary

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Licence No. 10018411

NET

AIMING LOW: THE 
WAY TO NET ZERO
2021 TO 2030

P
age 99



INTROducTION

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

INTROducTION
Councillor Jean Todd – Executive Member 
for Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety

The threats posed by climate change 
impacts on all of us and on future 
generations. It is the most serious challenge 
that we face.

We need everyone to come together to help 
achieve the ambitious target of becoming 
carbon neutral by 2030. The Borough 
Council has already set out how it intends 
to go about reducing its own emissions. 
This plan explains how High Peak Borough 
Council will contribute towards the borough 
becoming carbon neutral by 2030. We must 
be ambitious but also realistic about what 
the Borough Council can and cannot do. 

The Borough Council will do what it can to 
encourage a joined-up approach to tackling 
this vitally important issue that affects us all. 
But we need support from our businesses, 
residents, community groups and visitors. 

We need government to continue to build 
sustainability into key policies and laws such 
as the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Building Control Regulations. And we 
need other partner organisation such as 
the County Council, which has responsibility 
for our roads, transport and education, to 
take a lead on those areas that they have 
responsibility for. 

I ask you to support our plan because we 
will only be able to fix this problem if we 
work together. Every action, no matter how 
small can help. We all need to do what we 
can to respond to this global problem..

Title: Earth Warming Stripes 1850-2020, Ed Hawkins, University of Reading

59

P
age 100



INTROducTION

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Councillor Anthony McKeown – Leader of 
High Peak Borough Council”

The Council’s decision to declare a climate 
change emergency was unanimous and an 
important step for High Peak. We know that 
meeting the target of becoming Net Zero 
by will be very challenging but the evidence 
of the impact to our planet if we do not rise 
across the globe to stop global warming 
is stark and undeniable. It is the time now 
to build on this joint sense of purpose and 
back our words with the necessary actions to 
address the crisis

We will only meet this challenge if we all 
come together and we invite everyone who 
lives, learns or works in the High Peak – 
and those who visit our beautiful borough 
– to join us in doing what they can to stop 
climate change starting today.

This document provides information, support 
and guidance to encourage each and every 
one of us to meet this challenge. It is the 
biggest challenge that we face and tackling 
it is one of the most important things that we 
will ever do.

OuR VISION

“High Peak Borough Council will 
be carbon neutral in its internal 
operations and the services it 
delivers by 2030

Working with partners, High Peak 
Borough will be carbon neutral by 
2030.”

OuR MISSION

Encouraging people, businesses 
and other organisations to do 
what they can to reduce their 
carbon footprint and making it 
easier, where we can, for those 
changes to happen

OuR STRATEGY

We will use our tools, levers and 
powers and apply the Carbon 
Management Hierarchy as we 
focus on our 7 Ways to Net Zero; 
applying our values and seeking 
opportunities to deliver co-
benefits.

58

P
age 101



INTROducTION

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 The Way We 

Live

2 The Way We

Travel

3 The Way We

Work

4 The Way We

Make Energy

5 The Way We

Look After Our 
Environment

6 The Way We

Manage Waste

7 The Way We Can 

Help Change  
to Occur

Actions
Support new buildings 
to be energy efficient 
and minimise 
emissions

Reduce emissions from 
Council vehicles

Reduce emissions from 
Council buildings 

Look at generating 
green energy for 
Council buildings

Increase tree cover 
and improve nature

Reduce carbon 
emissions from our 
waste and recycling 
service

Consider Climate 
Change in all Council 
decisions and policies

Tackle fuel poverty 
and reduce emissions 
from homes

Support sustainable 
travel and 
development

Switch to green energy Promote the use of 
renewable energy

Protect and extend 
the existing green 
infrastructure

Encourage recycling 
and the green 
initiatives

Provide Councillors 
and staff members 
with appropriate skills 
and training

Support the increased 
use of EV vehicles

Buy low carbon 
products and services

Reduce the risk from 
flooding

Support community 
initiatives designed to 
reduce, recycle and 
repurpose waste

Promote climate 
change projects

Encourage people 
to make journeys by 
walking or cycling

Support the green 
economy

Work in partnership 
with our communities, 
including the most 
vulnerable

Encourage community 
climate change and 
nature projects

Support the 
development of a 
circular economy

Work with Parish 
Councils

Help businesses to get 
advice and support

Involve and engage 
our communities 
and create a more 
inclusive society

Encourage Council 
staff to adopt energy 
saving/low carbon

Lobby for change

57

P
age 102



cONTENTS

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cONTENTS

INTRODUCTION ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ 59

CLIMATE CHANGE – OUR STRATEGY ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 55

Our Challenge .....................................................53

Our Response ......................................................45

Our Approach ......................................................42

Our Values ............................................................. 37

Our To Do List .......................................................35

THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OUR PLAN ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 34

1 The Way We Live ..............................................34

2 The Way We Travel ..........................................30

3 The Way We Work ............................................ 27

4 The Way We Make Energy ........................... 24

5 The Way We Look After Our  
Environment ......................................................... 22

6 The Way We Manage Waste ........................19

7 The Way We Can Help Change  
to Occur ..................................................................16

KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY) �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������12

WHAT CAN I DO? ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 3

84% High Peak
people
think it’s
important
to tackle
climate
change

56

P
age 103



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY
Climate change is the greatest threat to our 
future existence. It is a global problem that 
requires global solutions. We know that we 
cannot solve the problem on our own, but 
we can take a lead role in our borough and 
use our powers and influence to support 
wider local action to reduce emissions and 
prepare for a changing climate.

The Borough Council declared a climate 
emergency on 15th October 2019 following 
unanimous, cross-party backing, and 
committed to:

‘the Council to become carbon neutral in its internal operations and the 
services it delivers, by 2030, and to work with partners to help achieve this 
target for the High Peak as a whole.’

The declaration recognises that we need 
to work together, in partnership, to respond 
to the challenge of the climate change 
emergency.

It will require the Council to change the 
historic ways of heating and powering our 
buildings and vehicles, and the goods and 
services that we procure, when providing 
essential services for our communities. 

We will need to adopt zero and low carbon 
alternatives and put climate change at the 
centre of our decision making. 

In July 2021, the Council took the important 
step of approving its first Climate Change 
plan to set out how it intends to reduce 
emissions generated by the Council’s 
activities.

55

P
age 104



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

But reducing the Council’s emissions is only a 
small part of the solution. We need to come 
together across the borough, so that all our 
residents, community groups and businesses 
are working together to respond to the 
emergency. 

“It comes down, I think, to us 
each taking responsibility for the 
personal choices in our everyday 
lives. That’s all any of us can be 
expected to do. And it is those 
everyday choices that add up”

Dr Jon Copley, University of Southampton

This plan sets out the role that the Borough 
Council can play in encouraging this 
collective action, from ensuring that local 
plans support sustainable development, 
to working in partnership with other 
organisations, to promoting good ideas 
and supporting our local community to get 
involved.

The plan sets out the first steps of the 
journey. We will update it over time to take 
advantage of new ideas and opportunities, 
and to respond to any new legislation 
and guidance, funding opportunities or 
challenges. It’s the first steps of a long 
journey but we believe that we can get there 
if we work together.

• We recognise the global climate 
emergency.

• We are committed to keeping global 
heating below the 1.5°Celsius goal of the 
Paris Agreement.

• We are committed to putting inclusive 
climate action at the centre of our 
decision-making to create thriving and 
equitable communities for everyone.

• We pledge to reach Net Zero by 2030 in 
line with global efforts to limit warming to 
1.5°Celsius.

• We invite our partners – political, business 
and community leaders; statutory 
organisations; trade unions; civic society 
and community members – to join us in 
recognising the global climate emergency 
and help us deliver on science-based 
action to overcome it.

• We invite everyone within the High Peak 
to act today and implement at least one 
measure to reduce their carbon footprint.

54

P
age 105



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR cHALLENGE

GLOBAL RISKS 

In 2020, the World Economic Forum (WEF) identified the top 5 global risks 
based on their likelihood of happening. All of the top 5 were environmental: 
extreme weather, climate action failure, natural disasters, biodiversity loss, 
and human-made environmental disasters. No environmental risk made the 
top 5 prior to 2011.

Three of the WEF’s top five global risks based on the impact that they would 
have were also environmental (climate action failure, biodiversity loss and 
extreme weather). The societal impact of water crises also featured in the 
top 5, alongside the risks associated with weapons of mass destruction.

The Global Risks Report 2020, World Economic Forum

Greenhouse gases – or GHGs - are 
released during many of the activities that 
we do day-to-day, such as driving petrol 
cars or heating homes. It is also released 
– or emitted - by industry. We call these 
‘emissions’. Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the most 

common GHG that is created by human 
activity– mainly through the burning of fossil 
fuels such as coal and gas. CO2 tends to 
remain in the atmosphere for hundreds of 
years.

The amount of Greenhouse gases from 
human activity have increased sharply 
since the industrial revolution especially in 
recent decades. This tips the ‘carbon cycle’ 
(where natural emissions of CO2 equal those 
removed) out of balance and increases the 
amount in the atmosphere.

GHGs trap heat in the atmosphere. The 
amount of CO2 in the atmosphere is now 
at its highest in several million years, and 
research shows that the heat trapped by this 
and other GHGs is increasing the average 
global temperature. This is called global 
warming..

53

P
age 106



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

“Global warming of 1.5°C and 2°C 
will be exceeded during the 21st 
century unless deep reductions in 
carbon dioxide (CO2) and other 
greenhouse gas emissions occur 
in the coming decades” 

Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science 
Basis, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC). 

Climate change is the changes in global 
weather patterns that are driven by global 
warming. The risks from climate change 
include:

• Extreme weather events.

• Environmental and economic damage.

• Further sea level rise as major ice sheets 
melt.

• Risks to health and wellbeing from 
poor equality, exposure to extreme 
temperatures, etc.

• Severe impacts on the world’s poorest 
and most vulnerable populations.

• Disruption and irreversible loss of natural 
habitats and resources.

A GLOBAL PROBLEM –  
LOcAL IMPAcTS

• Extreme weather events increase the risk 
of flooding and damage to the transport 
network. For example, on the evening of 
31 July 2019 heavy rain fell in Derbyshire 
and in particular the High Peak area 
with significant flooding in Buxton. On 1 
August 2019 the emergency services were 
alerted to the threat of a potential dam 
breach at Toddbrook reservoir, Whaley 
Bridge which resulted in the evacuation of 
approximately 550 properties. 

High Peak also experienced flooding, tree 
falls and road closures in February 2020 
as the area as affected by Storm Ciara.

• Increasing temperatures and severe 
weather events induced by climate 
change will directly and indirectly result 
in habitat alterations and increase the 
vulnerability of animal and plant species.

Sphagnum moss is especially susceptible 
to environmental changes and faces 
extinction in the event of severe climatic 
changes. 

By 2080, climate change may result in the 
loss of moorland birds, such as merlin and 
golden plover, from the Dark Peak.

52

P
age 107



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

• Drier conditions may result in rivers and 
streams becoming increasingly seasonal 
and at risk of drying up, with the risk of 
losing ponds altogether, especially dew 
ponds. 

The danger of wildfires also increases as 
peat soils dry out and woodlands suffer 
from summer drought. For example, in 
23 April 2020, a moorland fire burned for 
more than 7 days and covered an area 
of about four sq miles at Rakes Moss 
between Crowden and Glossop. The fire 
created large volumes of smoke, with 
residents many miles away in Manchester 
reporting they could smell burning and 
nearby residents and those in Stalybridge 
told to keep their windows and doors 
closed. 

The Royal Society for the Protection 
of Birds (RSPB) reported that the fire 
destroyed about £40,000 worth of its 
restoration work. 

The impacts can be far-reaching: the 
2018 wildfires at Saddleworth Moor and 
Winter Hill causing poor air quality up to 
50 miles away with five million people 
being exposed to levels of dangerous 
particulates

51

P
age 108



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

FOOD SHORTAGES HUMAN IMPACTS IMPACT ON NATURE

Ocean acidification

Sea level rise

Reduced 
fishery and 
aquaculture 
productivity

Crop failure 
and 

farmland 
loss

Flooding of 
towns and 
farmland

Coastal 
submersion

Displacement 
of people

Social and 
economic 

costs

Risks to 
human 

health and 
wellbeing

Disease Ecosystem 
collapse

Biodiversity 
loss

Altered rain patterns Extreme weather Flood Heatwave Drought Fire

Global Warming and Climate Change Other Air Pollutants e.g particulates

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

IMPAcTS OF cLIMATE cHANGE

50

P
age 109



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

GLOBAL

Each of the last four decades has been 
successively warmer than any decade 
that preceded it since 1850. Global surface 
temperature was 1.09°C higher in 2011–2020 
than 1850–1900. Models predict that Earth 
will warm between 2 and 6°C in the next 
century.

The levels of emissions have increased 
dramatically since the end of World War 
II. The fastest rate of increase in the 20th 
century was in the 25 years leading up to 
1970, with an annual average rate of more 
than 5%. Since 1970 it has been around 2%.

uNITEd KINGdOM (uK): 

In 2018, UK emissions were estimated to 
be 451.5 million tonnes carbon dioxide 
equivalent (MtCO2e).

The UK’s ten warmest years on record have 
occurred since 2002 and seven of the ten 
wettest years on record have happened 
since 1998. 

Heatwaves are now 30 times more likely 
to happen in the UK due to climate change 
and the Met Office predict that, at current 
rates, heatwaves in the UK can be expected 
to happen every other year by 2050. Winter 
storms are at least 40% more likely because 
of climate change.

Title: Earth Warming Stripes 
1884-2020, Ed Hawkins, 

University of Reading

49

P
age 110



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

WHAT THE uK THINKS ABOuT cLIMATE cHANGE

Eight in ten people (80%) in March 2021 
were either very concerned (33%) or fairly 
concerned (47%) about climate change.1

Among all people apart from the 1% who did 
not believe in climate change1:

• Over six in ten (63%) thought that climate 
change is already having an effect in the 
UK.

• Half (49%) thought that climate change 
is currently affecting people in their local 
area, 70% thought it was affecting people 
in the UK and 83% thought it was affecting 
people in other countries.

• The impacts people most expected to 
occur over the next 15 to 20 years are 
rising sea levels or more flooding (63%), 
rising temperatures or hotter summers 
(60%) and more extreme events such as 
storms (60%).

Almost half (46%) of UK citizens consider 
climate change to be an urgent priority that 
requires action immediately, with a further 
28% considering it a pressing issue that 
needs addressing in the next 5-10 years2.

53% of people believe that individuals can 
have a big or fairly big impact on climate 
change, 41% believed that they could have 
not much or no impact at all, and 6% didn’t 
know3.

Climate change is a topic of high concern to 
rural citizens (87%). 60% of rural citizens think 
that we are already feeling the effects of 
climate change (56% urban).4 

1 BEIS Public Attitudes Tracker (March 2021, Wave 37, 
UK); 2 ICARO Attitudes to climate change in the UK 
Key findings, September 2020; 3 YouGov, August 2021; 
4 Britain Talks Climate, 2020

UK greenhouse gas emissions are estimated 
to have fallen by 49% between 1990 and 
2020 (but this does not include emissions 
linked to the production of goods that 
are consumed in the UK but produced 
abroad or the UK’s ‘share’ of emissions from 
international aviation and shipping). Half 
of the total cut in emissions since 1990 were 
from the energy supply sector (mainly power 
generation). Gas replaced coal for electricity 
generation during the 1990s, renewables 
(especially wind) grew in the 2010s and coal 
use has fallen further in recent years to just 
2% of generation. Energy supply emissions 
are now below those from transport which 
have not changed very much since 1990.

48

P
age 111



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

HIGH PEAK

In 2018, High Peak’s in-boundary emissions 
totalled 1,181 ktCO2e. The majority resulted 
from buildings (76%) and transport (12%).

Sub Sector Direct, ktCO2e
Indirect, 
ktCO2e

Residential buildings 110.96 43.22 
Commercial buildings & facilities 32.48 69.29 
Institutional buildings & facilities 26.49 15.04 

Industrial buildings & facilities 501.91 84.58 
Agricultural fuels - -
Fugitive emissions 13.03 -

On-road 130.66 IE   
Rail 4.83 IE   

Waterborne navigation 0.31 IE   
Aviation NO   IE   
Off-road 1.31 IE   

Solid waste disposal 29.42 -
Biological treatment NO   -

Incineration and open burning NO   -
Wastewater 5.43 -

Industrial process 72.80 -
Product use 0.00 -
Livestock 56.09 -
Land use - 16.70 -

Other AFOLU NE   -
Electricity-only generation NO   -

CHP generation NO   -
Heat/cold generation NO   -

Local renewable generation 0.00 NO   
Sub-total 969.03 212.14

Grand total 1,181.16

IE = Included Elsewhere

NE = Not Estimated

NO = Not Occurring

Included under BASIC framework
Included under BASIC+ framework

Key statistics at a glance - 
HIGH pEAK

An annual reduction rate of 
15.8% is recommended to 
keep High Peak aligned with 
Paris Agreement targets

According to BEIS statistics, 
between 2005 and 2019 the 
average annual emissions 
reduction rate in High Peak 
was just over 1%

If High Peak continues along 
a business-as-usual scenario, 
the carbon budget (2020 - 
2100) will be exceeded by 
2026

47

P
age 112



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

WHAT THE HIGH PEAK THINKS ABOuT cLIMATE cHANGE

Eight out of ten (80%) residents are either 
very or a little concerned about the impact 
of climate change.

Over eight out of ten (84%) said that 
climate change is important to them (either 
somewhat, very or extremely).

People were most concerned about 
environment destruction (96% very or a little 
concerned), loss of animals, plants, habitats 
and biodiversity (96%), disease (95%) and 
species extinction (94%).

Respondents said that financial help and 
incentives (39%) and more information (25%) 
would help them to tackle climate change.

The actions that people thought would 
be important for tackling climate change 
were minimising single use plastic (64% said 
this was very important); encouraging the 
reuse, repurposing and recycling of waste 
materials (61%); and increasing the use of 
renewable energy (51%).

Future Focus Research surveyed 500 people, 
selected randomly from across the borough, 
in September 2021 on behalf of High Peak 
Borough Council

80% people
concerned
about
climate
change

46

P
age 113



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR RESPONSE

KYOTO

11 dEcEMBER 1997: 

Developed nations pledged in the Kyoto 
Protocol to reduce emissions by an average 
of 5% by the period 2008-12.

PARIS 

12 dEcEMBER 2015: 

The Paris Agreement - a legally binding 
international treaty on climate change- was 
adopted. Its goal is to limit global warming 
to well below 2, preferably to 1.5 degrees 
Celsius, compared to pre-industrial levels.

Why 1.5?

Climate Change and Biodiversity: 

Limiting global warming to 
1.5°C above pre-industrial levels 
avoids half the risks associated 
with warming of 2°C for plants, 
animals, and insects in terms of 
climate change induced range 
loss.

Climate Change and Human 
Health: 

With 1.5°C of future global 
warming, many tropical and sub-
tropical regions will face extreme 
risks to population health from 
heat stress. These risks become 
widespread in these regions with 
temperature increases of 2.5°C to 
3°C.

Climate Change and Sea Level 
Rise: 

Global sea level rises are 
predicted to rise by up to 52cm by 
2100 with a temperature rise of 
1.5°C and up to 63cm for a 2.0°C 
rise. The additional 11 cm of sea 
level rise is projected to result in 
additional global annual flood 
costs of US$ 1.5 trillion per year 
(0.25% of global GDP) without 
adaptation. Flood cost for UK is 
projected to increase from 2.5% of 
GDP (1.5°C) to 4% GDP(2°C).

Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research 
2018, The implications of global warming of 
1.5°C and 2°C

45

P
age 114



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

uK

26TH NOVEMBER 2008: 

The Climate Change Act 2008 was 
introduced to ensure that the net UK carbon 
account for all six Kyoto greenhouse gases 
for the year 2050 is at least 80% lower than 
the 1990 baseline. 

27TH JuNE 2019: 

The UK government amended the Climate 
Change Act and set a legally binding 
target to achieve net zero greenhouse gas 
emissions from across the UK economy by 
2050 with five yearly carbon budgets to set 
actions and review progress.

HIGH PEAK

12 dEcEMBER 2018: 

The Council established a Single use plastic 
(SUP) working group to develop options for 
eliminating the use of SUPs by the Council

10 OcTOBER 2019: 

The Council approved a new corporate plan 
(2019-23) that included “Protect and improve 
the environment including responding 
to the climate emergency” as one of the 
four aims of the Council. The Council’s 
corporate plan has previously included 
aims around improving the environment, 
but this is the first time that climate change 
has been specifically named a key aim. This 
demonstrates the Council’s commitment to 
putting climate change at the heart of its 
activities.

15TH OcTOBER 2019: 

High Peak Borough Council declared a 
climate emergency. The declaration commits 
the Council to become carbon neutral in 
its internal operations and the services it 
delivers, by 2030, and to work with partners 
to help achieve this target for the High Peak 
as a whole. 

This means that by 2030 any greenhouse 
gas emissions from the borough must be 
balanced with an equivalent amount of 
emissions that are collected and stored in a 
way that keeps them safe (sequestered) or 
offset. If we do this, we become a carbon 
neutral borough with a net zero carbon 
footprint.

1 JuLY 2021: 

The Borough Council approved its 2021/22 
Climate Change Plan (Part 1), which 
focussed on reducing the Council’s own 
emissions.

44

P
age 115



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Following the declaration of a climate 
emergency, the Council introduced a 
Climate Change Working Group to help 
develop its approach.

A group of Council Officers also met 
internally to develop ideas and create the 
plan.

1 JuLY 2021: 

1 July 2021: The Borough Council approved its 
2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1), which 
focussed on reducing the Council’s own 
emissions.

We also considered information from the 
following sources when creating our plan:

• Research conducted on our behalf by 
Anthesis

• The results of a Climate Change Attitude 
carried out in September 2021. 

• Advice and guidance from High Peak 
Green Network

• A review of national and international 
guidance, and local authority plans from 
across the country.

The Council has reviewed its structures and 
the skills and capacity of the workforce that 
are needed to deliver its plans. It will also 
build the cost of delivering the Council’s 
actions within the plan into the Council’s 
annual budget and Medium-Term Financial 
Plan.

The Council carries an earmarked reserve 
set aside for initiatives responding to the 
Climate Emergency. This reserve is available 
to provide the funding for unbudgeted in-
year spend developing projects designed 
to further the Council’s ambitions around 
climate change. Once specific projects 
have been developed (and their business 
case signed off); the necessary budget 
requirements can be incorporated into the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

43

P
age 116



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR APPROAcH

Our Vision:  
High Peak Borough Council will 
be carbon neutral in its internal 
operations and the services it 
delivers by 2030

Working with partners, High Peak 
Borough will be carbon neutral by 
2030.”

Local authorities have powers or influence 
over roughly a third of emissions in their 
local areas and UK100 estimate that local 
authorities are responsible for around 
6% of emissions. For High Peak, the local 
authorities are High Peak Borough Council, 
Derbyshire County Council, and the Peak 
District National Park Authority.

“More than half of the emissions 
cuts needed rely on people and 
businesses taking up low-carbon 
solutions – decisions that are 
made at a local and individual 
level. Many of these decisions 
depend on having supporting 
infrastructure and systems in 
place. Local authorities have 
powers or influence over roughly 
a third of emissions in their local 
areas”

Climate Change Committee, Local 
Authorities and the Sixth Carbon Budget, 
December 2020 

This means that we all have a part to play 
in tackling climate change. We see our role 
as a borough council to be to encourage 
people, businesses and other organisations 
to do what they can to reduce their carbon 
footprint and make it easier, where we can, 
for those changes to happen.

42

P
age 117



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Our Mission:  
Encouraging people, businesses 
and other organisations to do 
what they can to reduce their 
carbon footprint and making it 
easier, where we can, for those 
changes to happen.

The national Climate Change Committee 
is an independent, statutory body that has 
set out the different methods that local 
authorities can use to control and influence 
emissions and tackle climate change.

• Direct Control: the Council’s own 
buildings, operations, travel

• Procurement and commissioning & 
commercialisation

• Place shaping: using powers to control 
development and transport (transport is a 
County Council function along with things 
like highways and education)

• Showcasing: innovating, piloting, 
demonstrating and sharing good 
practice, scaling and replicating

• Partnerships: leading, bringing people 
and organisations together, co-ordinating 
and supporting others, joining others’ 
partnerships

• Involving, Engaging and Communicating: 
translating global & national climate 
change targets for local relevance; with 
stakeholders to raise awareness, involving 
people ad ideas for local solutions

41

P
age 118



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

We have used this list as a framework for 
creating our plans to achieve net zero in 
High Peak by 2030.  

“As much as 62% of the future 
reduction in emissions will rely on 
individual choices and behaviours, 
from day to day lifestyle choices 
to one off purchases such as 
replacing boilers that use fossil 
fuels or buying an electric vehicle”.

House of Commons Public Accounts 
Committee 2021, Achieving Net Zero

“The public need to be involved – 
over half the emissions reductions 
we identified to reach Net Zero 
actively involve people, whether 
by choosing to purchase low-
carbon technologies like electric 
cars, or by making different 
choices, for example on their 
travel and diets.”

Climate Change Committee 2020, The Sixth 
Carbon Budget: The UK’s path to Net Zero

40

P
age 119



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

We believe that we can meet our aim of 
becoming a carbon neutral Council – sitting 
within a carbon neutral borough – by 2030 
if we focus our actions on 7 Ways to Net Zero.

• The Way We Live

• The Way We Travel

• The Way We Work

• The Way We Make Energy

• The Way We Look After Our Environment

• The Way We Manage Waste, and

• The Way We Can Change to Occur.

The way we 
Live

The way we 
Travel

The way we
Work

The way we

Manage
Waste

The way we help

Change
to occur

The way we 
Make

Energy

The way we
look after our

Environment

NET

39

P
age 120



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Some actions that we can take are better 
than others at producing more lasting 
reductions in emissions. We call this the 
Carbon Management Hierarchy. In our plan, 
we will look at ways of avoiding emissions 
before we think about ways of removing or 
offsetting.

THE cARBON MANAGEMENT 
HIERARcHY

We acknowledge that climate change is 
a ‘grand challenge’ but it also presents 
opportunities. This includes improving 
people’s health and wellbeing through 
active travel and cleaner air, using nature-
based solutions to improve people’s quality 
of life, tackling deprivation by addressing 
food and fuel poverty, improving our natural 
environment through the protection and 
expansion of green spaces; and delivering 
economic growth and creating jobs. These 
are often referred to as the co-benefits of 
tackling climate change. We will look for 
opportunities to deliver co-benefits wherever 
possible.

Clean growth is one of the four Grand 
Challenges set out in the UK’s Industrial 
Strategy.

“We will maximise the advantages 
for UK industry from the global 
shift to clean growth – through 
leading the world in the 
development, manufacture and 
use of low carbon technologies, 
systems and services that cost less 
than high carbon alternatives.”

HM Government, Industrial Strategy, 
Building a Britain fit for the future

Avoid
Avoid activities that cause emissions

Most favoured option

Least favoured option

Reduce
Change activities to reduce emissions

Replace
Change sources to reduce emissions

Remove
Undertake activities to 

store emissions
O�set

O�set residual
emissions

Actions at the top produce more lasting reductions in emissions

38

P
age 121



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR VALuES
We will:

• Put climate change at the heart of our 
decision making.

• Base our decision-making on science and 
best practice wherever possible.

• Promote awareness of climate change 
and the best practices for responding to it.

• Create a framework to enable people 
and organisations to take action to 
address climate change.

• Focus our actions on those areas under 
our control and where we can have 
the greatest impact, whilst seeking to 
influence the behaviour of actions of 
others.

• Focus our efforts on delivering the actions 
within our action plan whilst also taking 
of advantage of any opportunities to 
apply for funding to support local action 
to respond to the Climate and Nature 
emergency. 

• Identify and take advantages of the co-
benefits of addressing the Climate and 
Nature emergency, such as improving 
physical health and mental wellbeing, 
achieving economic growth and 
alleviating poverty.

• Support the voluntary and community 
sector to deliver community-led projects 
and activity.

• Give priority in responding to climate 
change to the needs of vulnerable groups 
who are most at risk to the adverse effects 
of climate change, including food and 
fuel poverty, and lack of access to green 
space.

• Put inclusive climate action at the centre 
of our decision-making to create thriving 
and equitable communities for everyone.

• Embed fairness as a core principle and 
seek to ensure that the benefits of acting 
on climate change are shared widely, and 
that the costs do not burden those who 

are least able to pay, or whose livelihoods 
are most at risk as the economy changes.

• We invite our partners – political, business 
and community leaders; statutory 
organisations; trade unions; civic society 
and community members – to join us in 
recognising the global climate emergency 
and help us deliver on science-based 
action to overcome it.

37

P
age 122



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Our Strategy:  
We will use our tools, levers and 
powers and apply the Carbon 
Management Hierarchy as we 
focus on our 7 Ways to Net Zero; 
applying our values and seeking 
opportunities to deliver co-
benefits.

OuR FEEdBAcK

We will provide regular updates on what we 
have achieved throughout the year and a 
final update once each year has ended.

We will also provide reports on specific 
actions within our plan, such as the 
introduction of new policies or strategies, 
and the delivery of projects. Information 
about the delivery of the plan will also 
be included within the Council’s quarterly 
performance reports.

The Council’s reports are available on the 
Council’s website and members of the public 
can watch the committees either in person 
or on-line.

We will also seek ways of talking directly with 
our communities throughout the year.

36

P
age 123



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR TO dO LIST
We know that our plans will need to change 
as the climate emergency landscape 
inevitably shifts over time. With that in mind, 
we will make sure that we review our plans 
regularly so that they remain fit-for-purpose. 
We will update our website whenever we 
make changes to our plan.

In the next 12-months we will also:

• Further develop our approach to target 
setting including milestones for action. 
The release of the Census 2021 data will 
help us to establish baselines.

• Enhance our monitoring procedures to 
make sure that the actions that we are 
taking are having an impact

• Embed Climate Change activity within the 
Council’s annual budget and Medium-
Term Financial Plan.

• Deliver the actions under Aim 4 of our 
corporate plan (Aim 4: Protect and 
improve the environment including 
responding to the climate emergency)

• Include mandatory Carbon Literacy/
Awareness training for all new Council 
employees

• Analyse the Council’s procurement 
emissions1

• Conduct a borough-wide pathway 
analysis1

• Hold a series of workshops to further 
develop a picture of ‘how’ various 
measures are implemented across the 
borough and the Council’s role in these1.

1 Anthesis – who are the leading 
sustainability experts globally – have been 
commissioned to undertake this work on 
behalf of the Council.

35

P
age 124



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

1 THE WAY WE LIVE

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Emissions from residential buildings totalled 
154 ktCO2e within High Peak in 2018. This 
figure estimates emissions arising from 
the consumption of energy in residential 
buildings of all types and tenures, including 
social housing, rented accommodation and 
privately-owned properties. 

The most significant source of emissions 
from households comes from the use 
of energy for heating and hot water. 
Most of this is achieved through natural 
gas consumption, with gas demand for 
heating making up 67% of residential 
building emissions. The second most 
significant source of emissions is the use 
of grid supplied electricity to the borough 
for lighting, appliances and cooking, 
which makes up around 22% of residential 

emissions. The remainder is made up of 
small contributions from other fuel types.

In 2019, official figures show that 13.1% of 
households in High Peak were living in fuel 
poverty (compared to an average of 13.8% 
for the whole of England). In High Peak 
approximately 3,460 private sector homes 
fail the Decent Homes Standard on thermal 
comfort. A greater proportion of private 
rented homes do not meet the required 
standard for thermal comfort (14.0%) than 
owner occupied homes (8.5%). 

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

5% of High Peak of Private Sector 
homes will be below the Decent Homes 
Standard on thermal comfort by 2025 
and 0% by 2030.

10% of households will be living in fuel 
poverty by 2025 and 0% by 2030.

There will be Net Zero emissions from 
residential buildings in High Peak by 
2030..

34

P
age 125



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Place shaping
1.1 New buildings and other 

development within the 
Borough will have high 
levels of energy efficiency 
and minimise carbon 
emissions

Work with the Vision 
Derbyshire Climate 
Change Sub-group to 
review the Local Plan to 
further increase the focus 
on climate change

Timetable for Local Plan 
review to be agreed in 
Spring 2022 

The Derbyshire 
Renewable Energy Study 
is due in 2022

Revised Local Plan 
approved with increased 
focus on climate change

Clarity needed from 
Government regarding 
their reforms of the 
planning system which 
will determine the scope 
and role of Local Plans in 
tackling climate change. 

Head of 
Development 
Services

Produce a Developer 
Contributions 
Supplementary Planning 
Document to consider 
scope for guidance on 
S106 agreements that 
can be negotiated under 
the current Local Plan. 
This work will consider 
the scope for climate 
change measures that 
can secured in the short/
medium term under 
current policy.

2022 Increased funding 
secured from developers 
to support climate change 
adaptation and mitigation 
measures. 

Scope for developer 
contributions is limited 
by the viability of 
development. 

Head of 
Development 
Services

Work with the Vision 
Derbyshire Climate 
Change Sub-Group to 
develop guidance for 
climate change mitigation 
and adaptation. A metric 
to assess planning 
applications in terms of 
the above is also being 
developed alongside the 
guidance. 

2022 Supplementary Planning 
guidance introduced

Increased awareness of 
opportunities to address 
climate change through 
developments

Head of 
Development 
Services

33

P
age 126



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

1.2 We will support action 
including retrofitting 
to reduce fuel poverty, 
prevent health hazards 
relating to damp and 
excess cold. and reduce 
emissions from homes

We will update the 
Council’s private sector 
housing policy to include 
a greater emphasis 
on improving energy 
efficiency in privately 
rented housing.

December 2022 Revised Private Sector 
Housing Policy approved 
with increased focus on 
sustainability

 Head of Regulatory 
Services

We will enforce Minimum 
Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES) in the 
private rented sector

On-going Number of enforcement 
actions

Head of Regulatory 
Services

Examine opportunities 
for the Council to 
train assessors and 
coordinators in the PAS 
2035 standard

December 2022 Policy produced Head of Assets

Partnerships

1.3 We will work in 
partnership to combat 
fuel poverty, help 
residents to heat their 
home and address 
the public health 
consequences of climate 
change.

We will work in 
partnership with 
Derbyshire County, the 
Local Authority Energy 
Partnership and others to 
tackle fuel poverty

On-going Number of properties 
supported

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

32

P
age 127



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

1.4 We will support action to 
reduce school-related 
carbon emissions

We will encourage the 
County Council to support 
schools to cut carbon 
emissions, such as by 
participating in the LESS 
CO2 programme and 
accessing Salix finance, 
and to ensure that school 
meals are delivered in 
accordance with the 
official Eatwell Guide  

On-going Reduced emissions from 
schools

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

We will promote the Eco 
Schools programme.

Number of Eco Schools in 
the Borough

1.5 Supporting the 
development of zero 
carbon buildings

We will develop a 
roadmap to achieve net 
zero carbon new buildings 
from 2030 through 
adopting appropriately 
worded policies in the 
replacement Local 
Plan following public 
examination

2022 Head of 
Development 
Services

Involving, Engaging and Communicating

1.6 Encourage the insulation 
of existing homes across 
the Borough as well as the 
installation of other green 
energy solutions

We will use our influence 
to strongly promote any 
successor schemes to the 
Green Homes Grant

On-going This depends upon the 
introduction of successor 
schemes

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

1.7 We will consult on the 
Local Plan review

Approach to be 
determined in Spring 2022

Head of 
Development 
Services

31

P
age 128



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

2 THE WAY WE TRAVEL

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Transport is the largest emitting sector of 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, producing 
27% of the UK’s total emissions in 2019. Of 
this, the majority (91%) came from road 
transport vehicles. The biggest contributors 
to this were cars and taxis, which made up 
61% of the emissions from road transport, 
followed by Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) 
(18%) and vans (17%).

International aviation emissions (which are 
not counted towards the UK’s total domestic 
emissions) have more than doubled in the 
period 1990- 2019 (a 138% increase).

Emissions from transport totalled 137 ktCO2e 
in High Peak in 2018. On-road transport 
dominates the emissions in this sector; 
Department for Transport data indicate that 
over 4.1 billion vehicle miles were driven 
across the Borough’s roads in 2018. The 
proportion of electric vehicles in the Borough 

has grown significantly in recent years, but 
still constitutes less than 1% of the overall 
number of registered vehicles.

Approximately 63% of people aged 16-74 in 
the High Peak travel to work by driving a car 
or van. 

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

40% of commuter journeys will be made 
by public transport, cycling and walking 
by 2025 and 45% by 2030.

There will be Net Zero vehicle-related 
emissions in line with Government 
targets.

30

P
age 129



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

2 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
2.1 We will reduce 

emissions from Council 
vehicles and Council-
related activity

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Service 
Commissioning

Head of 
Transformation

Place shaping
2.2 We will reduce 

transport-related 
emissions by 
encouraging 
sustainable 
development

As part of the next review of 
the Local Plan, consider further 
opportunities for supporting electric 
vehicles as well as ensuring that 
future developments are well-
connected to bus routes and 
walking and cycling networks

Timetable for Local 
Plan review to be 
agreed in Spring 
2022

Revised Local Plan 
approved with 
increased focus on 
reducing travel and 
transport related 
emissions

Increased take up of 
Electric Vehicles

Head of 
Development 
Services

We will encourage and 
support the increased 
use of EV vehicles

We will support the development 
of a County EV charging point 
strategy and installation plan for 
the Borough.

March 2022 Strategy and plan 
produced

The approach helps 
to provide a consistent 
approach across Derbyshire. 
The development of the 
strategy will be led by the 
County Council and requires 
timely buy-in from all 
boroughs

Head of Assets

We will review the Taxi Licensing 
Policy to consider updating the 
vehicle standards and including a 
specification for emissions

December 2022 New policy approved Head of Regulatory 
Services

29

P
age 130



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

2 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Partnerships
2.3 We will work in 

partnership to reduce 
travel and transport 
related emissions

We will support the County Council 
to deliver measures for tackling 
climate change within their Local 
Transport Plan 

We will encourage and support 
Derbyshire County Council to take 
action to encourage sustainable 
travel including,

- improving pedestrian and cycle 
routes across the borough

- Support improvements to public 
transport, including the scope to 
support Gamesley Stations

On-going Derbyshire County 
Council deliver 
schemes to encourage 
sustainable travel 
solutions

Head of 
Regeneration

We will encourage 
people to make 
journeys by walking or 
cycling (“active travel”) 
rather than by car. This 
will include a specific 
focus on helping and 
encouraging the most 
vulnerable sections 
of our communities to 
become more active.

Support the development of a 
cycling and walking plan for Buxton

To be agreed Plan produced Head of 
Regeneration

Support the completion of the 
Pennine Bridleway in Glossop

To be agreed Bridleway completed Head of 
Regeneration

Support the completion of the White 
Peak cycle loop

To be agreed Loop completed Head of 
Regeneration

28

P
age 131



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

3 THE WAY WE WORK

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

The most significant contributor to 
Derbyshire High Peak’s emissions is the non-
residential buildings sector, totalling 730 
ktCO2e across commercial, institutional and 
industrial buildings in 2018.

The most significant source of emissions 
from non-residential buildings is coal 
consumption in industrial buildings. As 
with residential buildings, the next most 
significant contributions to these totals is 
natural gas consumption for heating and hot 
water and electricity for appliances, lighting 
and cooking.

Industrial processes which describes 
emissions from all non-energy related 
processes in industrial facilities, such as 
manufacturing and production of chemicals, 
metals and minerals produced 73 ktCO2e of 
emissions in 2018.

Net livestock and land use, which accounts 
for emissions from rearing livestock and 
manure management netted off against 
emissions sequestered by the natural 
environment, accounted for 39 ktCO2e of 
emissions in 2018.

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

There will be Net Zero emissions from 
non-residential buildings by 2030

27

P
age 132



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

3 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
3.1 We will reduce energy use 

and improve the energy 
efficiency of Council 
buildings including Leisure 
Centres 

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Assets

3.2 We will switch the 
Council’s energy supply to 
100% green energy

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Assets

Procurement and commissioning & commercialisation
3.3 We will reduce the 

number of products 
purchased by the Council, 
chose low carbon/carbon 
neutral products where 
possible, and seek to 
use contractors who are 
working towards carbon 
neutrality

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Service 
Commissioning

Partnerships
3.4 We will seek to influence 

local economic priorities 
and activities to drive 
growth of the green 
economy and creation of 
local, green jobs. This will 
include supporting out 
vulnerable communities 
and those who will be 
most harmed by climate 
change

Work with the Local 
Enterprise Partnership 
to ensure that their 
decisions are in line with 
the rapid growth of the 
green economy, climate 
reduction pathways and 
nature restoration plans.

This will include promoting 
the re-training of workers 
in high carbon industries 
to low carbon sectors.

On-going LEP has an increased 
focus on the greener 
economy and greener 
jobs in the Borough

Head of 
Regeneration

26

P
age 133



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

3 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

3.5 We will support work 
aimed at promoting a 
circular economy

On-going Head of 
Regeneration

Involving, Engaging and Communicating
3.6 Provide advice and 

support to businesses
We will signpost people 
to appropriate sources 
of information via our 
website

March 2022 Information posted on 
Council website

Head of 
Regeneration

3.7 Encourage and enable 
energy saving/low carbon 
behaviour by all council 
staff

We will deliver campaigns 
aimed at reducing energy 
consumption and carbon 
emissions.

This will include delivering 
‘carbon literacy’ training 
to help staff members 
to identify opportunities 
for cutting carbon are 
maximised throughout 
council services.

On-going The Council becomes 
a carbon literate 
organisation

25

P
age 134



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

4 THE WAY WE MAKE ENERGY

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from 
the power sector were 65 MtCO2 in 2018, 
which is 15% of the UK total. These emissions 
come from the burning of coal and gas 
for electricity, with a small proportion 
from oil and other small-scale embedded 
generation: Gas plants contribute to 70% of 
power emissions. They provide 40% of total 
electricity generation. Coal accounts for 
23% of emissions but only 5% of generation. 
The remaining 7% of emissions come from 
oil and a variety of other small generation 
sources (Climate Change Committee, The 
Sixth Carbon Budget: Electricity generation)

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

Renewable energy target to be 
developed.

24

P
age 135



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

4 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
4.1 We will investigate 

options for generating 
green energy for Council 
buildings

We will Commission 
expert advice to review 
the Council’s estate and 
develop an action plan

April 2022 Options reported to 
Council after review 
completed

Head of Assets

Place shaping
4.2 We will promote the use of 

renewable energy
Review the Local Plan and 
consider measures such 
as:

- Identifying areas 
suitable for renewable 
energy and produce 
guidance,

- Investigate options for 
community and Borough 
heat networks

Timetable for Local Plan 
review to be agreed in 
Spring 2022

Derbyshire Renewable 
Energy Study due 2022

Revised local plan 
adopted outlining 
approach to renewable 
energy proposals

Head of 
Development 
Services

23

P
age 136



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

5 THE WAY WE LOOK AFTER OuR ENVIRONMENT

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Climate change can have a devastating 
impact on our natural environment, but 
restoring and improving nature can help us 
to reduce emissions.

Well-functioning, fertile soils maintain our 
food and timber supply. They store carbon 
and support a diverse range of organisms 
that form part of the terrestrial food chain 
for wildlife

UK peatlands are one of the most important 
terrestrial natural stores for carbon. They 
are estimated to store over 25 times the UK’s 
total current annual emissions and store an 
order of magnitude higher than the carbon 
stored in trees. However, the area of land 
suitable for peat forming vegetation in the 
uplands could decline by between 50% and 
65% by the 2050s

The abundance and distribution of UK 
terrestrial and freshwater species has 
declined by 13% since 1970. Upland areas 
face particularly acute risks, with 75% of 
present-day upland species potentially 
facing a decline in climate suitability by the 
end of the century under a medium level of 
warming

Particulate matter with an aerodynamic 
diameter of 2.5μm or less (PM2.5) has 
a significant impact on human health, 
including premature mortality, allergic 
reactions, and cardiovascular diseases. The 
2019 fraction of mortality attributable to 
PM2.5 pollution in High Peak is 5%, which is 
below the national average of 5.1%. There 
are two areas within High Peak where air 
pollution exceeds that target values for 
the protection of human health. These are 
known as Air Quality Management Areas 
(AQMA) and the two areas are Tintwhistle 
and Dinting Vale. 

The percentage tree cover for the Borough 
is 20% with urban tree cover in High Peak is 
estimated to be around 20%

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

Mortality attributable to PM2.5 pollution 
across the Borough will remain below 
the national average. 

Annual mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) will 
be reduced by 17.6 μg/m³ in Tintwhistle 
and by 15.14 μg/m³ in Dinting Vale by 
2030 

There will be 21% urban canopy cover by 
2025 and 24% by 2030.

We will develop further targets when we 
prepare our biodiversity strategy..

22

P
age 137



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

5 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
5.1 We will increase tree 

cover, and improve 
wildlife habitats and 
biodiversity

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of 
Communities & 
Climate Change

Place shaping
5.2 We will protect and 

enhance the existing 
green infrastructure 
resource within the 
Borough’s towns and 
villages

We will develop and 
extend the existing 
elements of green 
infrastructure, where 
necessary, to create a 
multi-functional network 
that links existing and 
proposed green spaces

We will implement 
planning policies adopted 
through the Local Plan.

This will include 
developing a Biodiversity/
Green Infrastructure that 
supports the Local Plan

Timetable agreed Spring 
2022

Strategy adopted by the 
Council

Head of 
Development 
Services

5.3 We will encourage 
action and mandate 
implementation of 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
requirements through 
planning to conserve and 
improve biodiversity in the 
Borough

We will develop a 
Biodiversity/Green 
Infrastructure Strategy 
that supports the Local 
Plan

March 2022 Strategy adopted by the 
Council

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Head of 
Development 
Services

Head of Service 
Commissioning

21

P
age 138



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

5 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

5.4 We will encourage tree 
planting and create 
a framework for the 
planting of new trees

We will develop a Tree 
Strategy that supports the 
Local Plan

March 2022 Strategy adopted by the 
Council

Number of new trees 
planted

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Partnerships
5.5 We will work with the 

County Council and 
others to reduce the risk of 
flooding in the Borough

We will support delivery 
of the Derbyshire Local 
Flood Risk Management 
Strategy

On-going Head of 
Development 
Control

Involving, Engaging and Communicating
5.6 We will support projects 

to involve families and 
young people in nature-
based projects 

We will support the Fairer 
for Nature and Buxton 
Wild Weeks programmes 
and seek to extend the 
approach to other areas  

On-going Number of initiatives 
delivered

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Number of families and 
young people engaged

5.7 Work in partnership 
with our communities, 
including the most 
vulnerable to protect and 
improve the environment

We will work with High 
Peak CVS, Connex, New 
Mills Volunteer Centre, 
The Bureau and others to 
develop our approach

March 2022 Approach agreed

Numbers engaged

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

20

P
age 139



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

6 THE WAY WE MANAGE WASTE

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Emissions from waste from the Borough 
totalled 35 ktCO2e in 2018. This includes Solid 
waste disposal emissions and wastewater 
emissions. 56% of household waste is reused, 
recycled, or composted in the Borough. The 
target for residual waste per household was 
475kg in 2021/22.

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

51% of waste will be reused, recycled or 
composted by 2025.

There will be 465 kg or less residual 
waste per household in 2021/22

There will be Net Zero emissions from 
waste by 2030.

19

P
age 140



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

6 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
6.1 We will implement 

measures to reduce 
carbon emissions from 
the Council’s waste and 
recycling service

We will continue to review 
the efficiency of existing 
waste collection rounds 
and make appropriate 
changes 

On-going Reduced mileage and 
therefore reduced 
emissions

The Government could 
require the Council to 
collect waste streams 
different which could 
increase the number 
of vehicles required to 
deliver these services. This 
could have a negative 
impact on mileage and 
increase emissions if we 
still use diesel vehicles.

Head of Service 
Commissioning

We will encourage our 
community to recycle 
waste

On-going Increased rate of 
recycling, reduction of 
residual waste collected 
per household

New direction by 
Government could lead to 
changes to services which 
frustrate residents but 
hopefully would lead to 
increased performance

Head of Service 
Commissioning

Partnerships
6.2 We will work with 

Derbyshire County Council 
and other Derbyshire 
Councils to encourage 
recycling and the broader 
greener agenda

We will work with the 
Derbyshire Waste 
Partnership to develop 
and implement a joint 
Waste Management 
Strategy

On-going Strategy developed and 
implemented

All local authorities 
are awaiting new 
Government direction 
on proposed changes to 
waste services as stated in 
the Resource and Waste 
Strategy (RAWS) 2018

Head of Service 
Commissioning

18

P
age 141



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

6 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Involving, Engaging and Communicating
6.3 We will encourage and 

support community 
initiatives designed to 
reduce, recycle and 
repurpose waste

We will support 
community initiatives 
where we can

Number of initiatives Lack of community 
schemes either already in 
existence or a lack of new 
initatives

Head of Service 
Commissioning

17

P
age 142



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 THE WAY WE cAN HELP cHANGE TO OccuR

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

More than half of the emissions cuts needed 
rely on people and businesses taking up 
low-carbon solutions

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

The Borough Council will become a 
Carbon Literate Organisation by 2020

All Town and Parish Councils will be 
supported to take action to tackle 
climate change

16

P
age 143



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
7.1 We will ensure that 

climate change 
implications are 
considered in all Council 
decisions and key policies

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Democratic 
Services

We will ensure that our 
Councillors and Council 
staff have the training 
and skills required to 
contribute to the Council’s 
carbon zero target.

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan

We will also work towards becoming a Carbon Literate Organisation by December 2022

Head of Democratic 
Services

Head of 
Transformation

We will create a more 
inclusive society

We will collect information on the needs of frontline communities with respect to climate planning and/or 
implementation

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Showcasing
7.2 Promote climate change 

project, schemes and 
initiatives

Encourage shop local 
schemes

March 2022 Head of 
Regeneration

Promote green tourism March 2022 Head of 
Regeneration

We will share relevant 
good practice, and 
promote schemes and 
programmes that reduce 
our carbon footprint

December 2021 Number of schemes, etc 
promoted

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

15

P
age 144



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

7.3 Encourage and support 
community-led delivery 
of sustainability and 
biodiversity initiatives. 
In particular, we will 
encourage and support 
activity involving the most 
vulnerable members of 
our communities and 
those who will be most 
harmed by climate 
change..

We will work with local 
Community and Voluntary 
Sector organisations to 
help develop and support 
local sustainability groups

On-going Number of community 
groups supported

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

We will support 
community projects, 
including through the 
Community Climate 
Change budget.

Budget available each 
financial year

Projects supported Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Partnerships
7.4 We will work with Parish 

Councils to enable them 
to take local action to 
address Climate Change, 
including developing their 
own climate action plans. 

We will provide support to 
Parish Councils through 
the Parish Assemblies

On-going Climate Change features 
on Parish Council 
agendas

Head of Democratic 
Services

Involving, Engaging & Communicating
7.5 We will use our influence 

to make changes to local, 
regional and national 
legislation, policies 
and guidance where 
appropriate

We will respond to 
consultations, engage in 
relevant partnerships, and 
lobby for change

On-going Number of consultations 
responded to

Executive Director 
(Place)

14

P
age 145



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

7.6 We will help the 
community to keep up to 
date with the latest ideas, 
advice and information 
about climate change

We will make extra effort 
to reach groups such 
as vulnerable members 
of our community, 
high carbon emitting 
businesses, farmers and 
landowners.

We will produce a 
Communications & 
Engagement Strategy 
that includes a focus on 
climate change education

We will deliver a 
communications 
campaign

December 2021 

On-going

We will publish our 
strategy on our website

Number of campaigns 
delivered

Head of 
Transformation

7.7 We will provide our 
communities with 
opportunities to take part 
in shaping and delivering 
climate change activity. 

We will produce a 
Communications & 
Engagement Strategy

We will deliver a series of 
engagement events

December 2021

On-going

We will provide details 
of the results of our 
engagement activities

Head of 
Transformation

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

7.8 Provide advice and 
support to residents, 
businesses and others

We will signpost people 
to appropriate sources 
of information via our 
website

Website updated by 
December 2021

We will monitor the 
number of people that 
visit our website

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

7.9 Encourage utility 
companies to replace any 
trees that are removed to 
allow them to carry out 
maintenance work

The Council will ask utility 
companies to replace 
trees at their own cost

On-going Number of trees replaced Head of Assets

13

P
age 146



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AcTIVE TRAVEL

Walking, cycling, or using some other form 
of physical activity for all or part of a journey 
instead of using a car or other motorised 
transport.

You can find more information here 

www.activetravel.org.uk

AIR QuALITY MANAGEMENT 
AREAS (AQMAS)

An area where air pollutant concentrations 
exceed / are likely to exceed national air 
quality objectives. AQMAs are declared for 
specific pollutants and objective.

You can find more information about the 
AQMAS in High Peak here: Pollution - 
High Peak Borough Council and general 
information about AQMAS here: DEFRA Air 
Quality Objectives

BIOdIVERSITY

The variety of animal and plant life in any 
environment.

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Natural History Museum: What 
is biodiversity?. 

You may also be interested to watch David 
Attenborough’s - Extinction: The Facts

BLuE INFRASTRucTuRE

The network of rivers, canals, ponds, 
wetlands, floodplains, water treatment 
facilities, etc. Green infrastructure refers to 
trees, lawns, hedgerows, parks, fields, forest.

cOMPENSATION

Storing or removing emissions rather than 
avoiding or reducing.

cARBON BudGET

A simplified way to measure the additional 
emissions that can enter the atmosphere to 
stay below 1.5C (or any other temperature 
limit).

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Carbon Budget - what is it and 
why is it important?

cARBON cYcLE

The carbon cycle is the way carbon is stored 
and replaced on Earth. The main ways 
that carbon gets into the carbon cycle are 
volcanoes, and the burning of fossil fuels 
like coal and gas. The main way carbon 
gets taken out of the atmosphere is by 
photosynthesis by living organisms.

12

P
age 147

https://www.activetravel.org.uk/
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/341/Pollution
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/341/Pollution
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/Air_Quality_Objectives_Update.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/Air_Quality_Objectives_Update.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=XTC4qiXd36Q
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=XTC4qiXd36Q
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000mn4n/extinction-the-facts
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000mn4n/extinction-the-facts
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=blsTXGFdeDk
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=blsTXGFdeDk


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cARBON dIOXIdE EQuIVALENT 
(cO2E)

Different greenhouse gases, such as 
methane, nitrogen oxides, etc., have 
different impacts on the greenhouse 
gas effect. The gaseous emissions from 
greenhouse gases can be converted to the 
amount of CO2 needed to create the same 
effect. This is called the Carbon Dioxide 
equivalent (CO2 e) and allows reporting of a 
single figures for emissions.

cARBON FOOTPRINT

A carbon footprint is the total amount of 
greenhouse gases (including carbon dioxide 
and methane) that are generated by our 
actions

You can calculate your own footprint here:

https://footprint.wwf.org.uk/

cARBON LITERAcY

Being aware of the impact of everyday 
activities on the climate, and knowing what 
steps can be taken to reduce emissions as 
an individual, a community group, or an 
organisation, and why it’s important that we 
all take these steps. 

You can find more information here 

https://carbonliteracy.com/

cARBON MANAGEMENT 
HIERARcHY

Some actions are better than others at 
producing more lasting reductions in 
emissions. Avoiding emissions in the first 
place needs to be prioritised over actions 
that remove or offset omissions.

cARBON NEuTRAL

Carbon neutral means that the amount of 
carbon that is emitted (released) is the same 
as that absorbed from the atmosphere. To 
achieve net zero emissions, all worldwide 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions will 
have to be counterbalanced by carbon 
sequestration.

cARBON SINK

Any system that absorbs more carbon than 
it emits. The main natural carbon sinks are 
soil, forests and oceans.

11

P
age 148

https://footprint.wwf.org.uk/#/
https://carbonliteracy.com/


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cIRcuLAR EcONOMY

A model of production and consumption, 
which involves sharing, leasing, reusing, 
repairing, refurbishing and recycling existing 
materials and products as long as possible. 
This is in contrast to the traditional, linear 
economic model, which is based on a take-
make-consume-throw away pattern.

A circular economy is based on three 
principles:

• Design out waste and pollution.

• Keep products and materials in use.

• Regenerate natural systems – favouring 
the use of renewable resources and 
enhancing natural systems by returning 
valuable nutrients to the soil.

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Ellen McArthur Foundation’s 
Humans Changed the Face of the Earth, 
Now We Rethink Our Future

cLEAN ENERGY

Energy that creates little or no greenhouse 
gases and that does not pollute the 
atmosphere energy when used. 

cLIMATE cHANGE

Climate change is the changes in global 
weather patterns that are driven by 
global warming. If you want to know 
more, then you may want to watch David 
Attenborough’s Climate Change - The Facts.

cLIMATE cO-BENEFITS

Positive outcomes from action that are not 
directly related to climate change mitigation. 
Such co-benefits include cleaner air, green 
job creation, public health benefits from 
active travel, and biodiversity improvement 
through expansion of green space.

cLIMATE ENVELOPE

The climate where a species currently lives.

cOMMuNITY ORcHARdS

Community orchards are places for people 
to come together to plant and cultivate local 
and unusual varieties of fruit, and sometimes 
nut, trees often planted among grass full of 
wildflowers.

10

P
age 149

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=A5wn_iinbxw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=A5wn_iinbxw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=A5wn_iinbxw
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m00049b1/climate-change-the-facts


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

dOuGHNuT EcONOMY

An economic theory developed by University 
of Oxford economist Professor Kate Raworth 
that suggests that a thriving human 
existence is only possible by considered use 
of available resources. The theory suggests 
that we risk catastrophic effects that are 
harmful to human life if we use too much 
of the available resources and that using 
earth’s resources unwisely can also lead to 
a shortfall, with humans existing in danger 
and hardship.

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch Kate Raworth explain Doughnut 
Economics.

EcO-ScHOOLS

A programme that allows young people to 
introduce and lead environmental actions 
and education in their school.

You can find more information here: Eco 
Schools

EEMS

Energy Efficiency Measures

ELEcTRIc VEHIcLES (EV)

Electric vehicles are powered by electric 
motors. They get some or all their power 
from large, rechargeable batteries. Different 
categories include: 

All-electric EVs, where the battery is the only 
power source.

Plug-in Hybrids (PHEVs), which can switch 
between running on electricity or fossil fuels.

Hybrids (HEVs) which do not plug in and 
have a much smaller battery which is 
recharged while driving.

Fuel Cell Vehicles that generate their own 
electricity on-board from a fuel such as 
hydrogen.

EV cHARGING

There are three main types of charger:

Slow Typically rated up to 3kW with a 
charge time of 8-10 hours

Fast Typically rated at either 7kW or 22kW 
with a charge time of 3-4 hours

Rapid Typically rated from 43kW with a 
charge time of 30-60 mins (only compatible 
with EVs with a rapid charging capability)

The choice of connectors depends on the 
charger type (socket) and the vehicle’s 
inlet port. On the charger-side, rapid 
chargers use CHAdeMO, CCS (Combined 
Charging Standard) or Type 2 connectors. 
Fast and slow units usually use Type 2, 
Type 1, Commando, or 3-pin plug outlets. 
On the vehicle-side, European EV models 
(Audi, BMW, Renault, Mercedes, VW and 
Volvo) tend to have Type 2 inlets and the 
corresponding CCS rapid standard, while 
Asian manufacturers (Nissan and Mitsubishi) 
prefer a Type 1 and CHAdeMO inlet 
combination.

9

P
age 150

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=Ziw-wK03TSw&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=Ziw-wK03TSw&feature=youtu.be
https://www.eco-schools.org.uk/
https://www.eco-schools.org.uk/


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

EMISSIONS

Emissions are things (in this cases gases) 
that are given off or released into the air 
from things like factories and cars.

For our purposes, it is the release of the 
seven greenhouse gases specified in the 
Kyoto Protocol.

ENERGY EFFIcIENcY

Using less energy to do the same thing, 
such as heat a home. This can lower fuel 
consumption, reduce emissions and help 
tackle climate change. Measures to improve 
energy efficiency within buildings can 
include the installation of loft or cavity wall 
insulation (improving the energy efficiency 
of the building) or installing new appliances 
that are more energy-efficient (such as new 
heating systems).

EPc RATING 
ENERGY PERFORMANcE 
cERTIFIcATE (EPc)

This shows how much a building will cost 
to heat and light, what its carbon dioxide 
emissions are likely to be and what 
improvements can be made to improve its 
energy efficiency. An EPC rates a property 
in bands from A (most efficient) to G (least 
efficient) and is valid for 10 years from the 
date it’s issued. 

FOSSIL FuELS

A fuel (oil, coal or gas) that was formed from 
the remains of living organisms millions of 
years ago. Fossil fuels are non-renewable 
energy resources which are harmful for the 
environment because they release carbon 
dioxide, and other greenhouse gases and 
harmful air-polluting gases, when they burn.

GLOBAL WARMING

Global warming is the term used to describe 
the rising of the average temperature on 
Earth. It has to do with the overall climate 
of the Earth rather than the weather on any 
given day.

GREEN ENERGY

Energy from natural sources, such as the sun 
and wind.

8

P
age 151



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

GREEN INFRASTRucTuRE

The network of green spaces including green 
roofs, living walls, parks, nature reserves, 
backyards and gardens, waterways and 
wetlands, streets and transport corridors, 
pathways and green corridors, squares and 
village greens, sports fields and cemeteries.

The National Planning Policy Framework 
defines Green infrastructure as: “A network 
of multi-functional green space, urban and 
rural, which is capable of delivering a wide 
range of environmental and quality of life 
benefits for local communities”.

The term is often used to also include ‘blue 
infrastructure.’

GREEN INFRASTRucTuRE 
PLANNING

Providing networks designed to link existing 
(and proposed) green spaces with green 
corridors running through towns, villages 
and rural areas.

GREEN JOBS

Jobs that have a direct, positive impact 
on the planet such as renewable energy, 
electric transport, energy efficiency or nature 
conservation.

GREEN SPAcE

All natural and semi-natural areas where 
vegetation such as trees, lawns, hedgerows, 
parks, fields, woods and forests grow (or 
could grow).

GREENHOuSE EFFEcT

The greenhouse effect is the rise in 
temperature that the Earth experiences 
because greenhouse gases trap energy 
from the sun.

GREENHOuSE GASES

Greenhouse gases are gases in Earth’s 
atmosphere that trap heat. They let sunlight 
pass through the atmosphere, but they 
prevent the heat that the sunlight brings 
from leaving the atmosphere. 

The Kyoto Protocol identifies seven 
greenhouse gases: Carbon dioxide 
(CO2), Methane (CH4), Nitrous oxide 
(N2O), Hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), 
Perfluorocarbons (PFCs), Sulphur 
hexafluoride (SF6) and Nitrogen trifluoride 
(NF3).

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Royal Society’s The Basics of 
Climate Change

7

P
age 152

https://royalsociety.org/topics-policy/projects/climate-change-evidence-causes/basics-of-climate-change/
https://royalsociety.org/topics-policy/projects/climate-change-evidence-causes/basics-of-climate-change/


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

GREEN TOuRISM 

Small scale tourism that encourages people 
to visit natural areas and minimize their 
impact on the local environment

Ecotourism is a type of green tourism where 
the flora (vegetation)  and fauna (wildlife) 
are the principal attractions

Sustainable Tourism, according to the 
United Nations World Tourism Organization 
is “Tourism that takes full account of 
its current and future economic, social 
and environmental impacts, addressing 
the needs of visitors, the industry, the 
environment and host communities.”

HABITATS

A habitat is a place where an animal lives 
and provides it with food, water and shelter. 
There are many different sorts of habitats 
around the world polar regions, to forests, 
grasslands and deserts.

LOcAL PLAN

Local Plans are prepared by Local Planning 
Authorities and provide a local guide to what 
can be built where and shape how land use 
and places will change and develop in the 
future. Planning applications need to be 
in line with Local Plans otherwise they are 
unlikely to receive planning permission.

MASTER PLAN

A master plan is a long-term planning 
document that provides an ideal, imagined 
layout to guide land use and development.

MINIMuM ENERGY EFFIcIENcY 
STANdARdS (MEES)

The Domestic Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standard (MEES) Regulations set a minimum 
energy efficiency level for domestic private 
rented properties.

OFFSET

A carbon offset is a reduction in emissions of 
carbon dioxide or other greenhouse gases 
made to compensate for emissions made 
elsewhere. This includes things like land 
restoration or the planting of trees.

PAS 2030 STANdARd

Publicly Available Specification (PAS) 2030 
is a British Standards Institute (BSI) that sets 
out the requirements for commissioning, 
installation and handing over of Energy 
Efficiency Measures in existing buildings.

6

P
age 153



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

PAS 2035 STANdARd

Publicly Available Specification (PAS) 
2035 is a British Standards Institute (BSI) 
standard that applies to existing buildings 
and provides a procedure for building 
assessment, a guide to selecting the most 
appropriate energy efficiency measures 
and instructions for long-term monitoring. 
It also sets out the minimum standards of 
qualifications, roles and responsibilities, for 
anyone carrying out retrofitting

PROcuREMENT

The process by which goods or services are 
obtained, usually for business purposes.

RENEWABLE ENERGY

Energy from recyclable sources. most green 
energy sources are also renewable, not all 
renewable energy sources are considered 
entirely green.

REPuRPOSING

Adapting or finding a new use for something 
instead of throwing it away once it has been 
used.

RETROFITTING

Modifying existing buildings, vehicles or 
equipment to make them more energy 
efficient and reduce emissions.

ScOPE 1/2/3 EMISSIONS

Scope 1: direct emissions from owned or 
controlled sources.

Scope 2: indirect emissions from the 
generation of purchased electricity, steam, 
heating and cooling consumed by the 
organisation.

Scope 3 includes all other indirect emissions 
that occur in an organisation’s value chain.

5

P
age 154



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

SEQuESTRATION

Removing carbon dioxide from the 
atmosphere and then storing it is known as 
carbon sequestration.

SINGLE uSE PLASTIcS 
(SuPS)

Goods that are made primarily from fossil 
fuel–based chemicals (petrochemicals) and 
are meant to be disposed of after use. SUPs 
are most commonly used for packaging, 
bottles, wrappers, straws, and bags.

SuSTAINABLE dEVELOPMENT

Development that meets the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs

SuSTAINABLE TRAVEL

Travelling in a way that minimises our 
negative impact on the planet.

uPcYcLING

Reusing objects or material that has been 
thrown away to create a product of higher 
quality or value than the original.

4

The way we travel

P
age 155



WHAT cAN I dO?

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

WHAT cAN I dO?
You can eliminate waste, reduce your 
carbon footprint and start making an impact 
right away by committing to some or all 
of the following actions. This isn’t a list of 
everything that you can do but we hope it 
gives you some ideas.

FOOd

• Set a goal of reducing the food waste in 
your home from its current levels.

• Commit to only buying what you need 
and eat what you buy.

• Avoid air-freighted food when they are 
out of season.

• Buy local food and support the local 
economy.

• Don’t leave the house without a reusable 
cup.

ELEcTRIcITY

• Take basic steps that cost nothing: turn 
lights off, hang washing out to dry, wash 
at a lower temperature and keep showers 
short. 

• Wear a jumper rather than turn the heat 
up, turn the thermostat down and turn 
radiators off in empty rooms (if you can 
without risking your health).

• Seek help if you are struggling to keep 
warm

• If you can afford to invest in your home, 
prioritise the carbon cutting measures 
that have the biggest impact: insulation 
(starting with drafts, then the loft, 
windows and walls), smart heating 
(efficient boilers, remote controls that 
include radiators), and lastly considering 
solar panels or heat pumps.

• Consider options for buying electricity 
from a green energy provider if they can 
demonstrate that your bill goes entirely 
towards additional renewable power.

TRANSPORTATION

• Aim to fly less and support your local 
economy through staycations

• Cut car emissions by walking, cycling, 
using public transport, car sharing or 
working from home.

• Consider buying an electric or plug-in 
hybrid if you can and only if you need a 
new car. 

3

P
age 156



WHAT cAN I dO?

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

PuRcHASES 

• Consume less

• Consume wisely. Consider the supply 
chain and think about the carbon 
footprint, fair livelihoods and all other 
sustainability criteria. 

• Buy local.

• Buy high quality things where you can 
and make them last, buy things that are 
designed to be repairable and sell on or 
give away when you have finished with 
them.

• Choose the most energy-efficient white 
goods. 

INVESTMENTS

• Use any money you have to help create 
the future you want to see.

• Look at options for investing in pension 
and saving schemes that don’t support 
fossil fuel companies and prioritise those 
that invest in the things we urgently need, 
such as renewables and reforestation.

“Very few of us are squeaky clean 
in carbon terms. You don’t have 
to become so overnight but most 
of us do need to make serious 
changes over the next few years. 
It’s important to keep moving in 
the right direction and enjoy the 
process of cutting carbon out of 
our lives. Don’t beat yourself up, 
but don’t let yourself off the hook 
either.”

Professor Mike Berners-Lee, Lancaster 
University

2

P
age 157



WHAT cAN I dO?

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

dO ALL YOu cAN

• Put a plan in place and 
work your way through it.

Adopt the 5 R’s

• Refuse – say no to the stuff 
that you don’t need and that 
becomes instant waste

• Reduce – what do you 
actually need, how much do 
you need, how long it will 
last?

• Reuse – can you reuse 
or repair it before throwing 
stuff away?

• Recycle – aim for 
products that can be 
recycled and then put them 
in the correct bin

• Rot – how about 
composting?

1

High Peak

The waY WE MANAGE WASTE

P
age 158



THE FINAL WORd
“We are at a unique stage in our history. 
Never before have we had such an 
awareness of what we are doing to the 
planet, and never before have we had the 
power to do something about that. Surely 
we all have a responsibility to care for our 
Blue Planet. The future of humanity and 
indeed, all life on earth, now depends on us.”

David Attenborough, “Our Blue Planet”

0ZER

P
age 159



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Presentation 1
	Presentation 2

	5 Climate Change Action Plan
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Introduction
	Climate Change – Our Strategy
	Our Challenge
	Our Response
	Our Approach
	Our Values
	Our To Do List
	The way to Net Zero - Our Plan
	1 The Way We Live
	2 The Way We Travel
	3 The Way We Work
	4 The Way We Make Energy
	5 The Way We Look After Our Environment
	6 The Way We Manage Waste
	7 The Way We Can Help Change to Occur

	Key terms (Glossary)
	What can I do?



